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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG 
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to 
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. 
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and 
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a 
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities 
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the 
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no 

responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and 

expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or 

any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of KOS International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 

collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules 

Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose 

of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm 

that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete 

in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which 

would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”), I am pleased to present to you the annual 
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

2021 was a year of challenges and changes in the economic environment. Despite the COVID-19 pandemic 
continuing to impact our lives, the Group managed to deliver a satisfactory result for the year. With our 
foresight, planning, and committed resources to improve our operational efficiency and profitability, the Group 
achieved a strong come back. Our business demonstrated resilience in terms of higher revenue and better 
profit – solid proof of our business model and the establishment of a robust foundation for our upcoming 
business plans.

REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s revenue increased by approximately HK$43.6 million 
or 66.8% from approximately HK$65.3 million in 2020 to approximately HK$108.9 million. This increase was 
primarily due to the growth of our business in Mainland China and economic recovery from the pandemic in 
Hong Kong. This has resulted in increased demand in talent and led to a significant increase in successful 
placements and an improved recruitment atmosphere. The recruitment service revenue in Hong Kong 
increased by approximately HK$26.8 million or 76.6% from approximately HK$35 million for the year ended 
31 December 2020 to approximately HK$61.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Group’s 
recruitment service revenue in Mainland China has shown an even more significant increase of 171.9% from 
approximately HK$6.4 million in 2020 to approximately HK$17.4 million in 2021.

Being an HR recruitment company, we understand far better than anyone the importance of talent to the 
growth of the Group. With the expansion of our business, internal staff costs increased by approximately 
HK$14.7 million or 41.6% from approximately HK$35.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to 
approximately HK$50.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. Seconded staff costs have increased by 
approximately HK$5.7 million or 26.0% from approximately HK$21.9 million for the year ended 31 December 
2020 to HK$27.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. This increment was in line with the increase of 
secondment and payroll service revenue. We will continue to hire the best suitable talent for our clients in both 
Hong Kong and Mainland China to support our expansion and create more revenue streams for the Group.

OUTLOOK

Having considered the effects of the pandemic, including the continuous existence of COVID-19 variants (e.g., 
Delta and Omicron), the Group will move into 2022 with cautious optimism. Apart from our core business in 
Hong Kong, the Mainland China market continues to be our major focus. With the pandemic now stabilised in 
Mainland China, we aim to capitalise on the strong growth of our Mainland China business in 2021 and expand 
our footprint in other regions of Mainland China in addition to the Greater Bay Area. We will also seek business 
exposure in HR-related business to maximise synergy across internal teams. By leveraging our solid reputation, 
well-established business relationships, sizeable pool of candidates, and excellent management team, we see 
sufficient room for the Group to grow both in terms of the source and amount of revenue.



Chairman’s Statement

5KOS INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED   Annual Report 2021

APPRECIATION

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all of our shareholders, customers, and stakeholders for 
their ongoing support. I would also like to give special thanks to our management team and colleagues for their 
professionalism, dedication, and commitment; their service over the years has been invaluable. 2021 has been 
a great year for the Group and marks a good start of a new chapter. Going forward, I am certain that through 
our determination and team-oriented mindset, we will keep striving to reach higher and create more value for 
the Group and our shareholders.

Chan Ka Kin Kevin
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 March 2022
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Business review

KOS International is a leading human resources (“HR”) service provider that is based in Hong Kong. We 
believe that hiring the right people is key to the success of every company. As such, our mission is to provide 
impeccable recruitment services to our clients by placing high-calibre candidates that are most suitable for our 
clients’ vacancies. Together with our secondment and payroll services, we extend beyond job placements by 
providing a complete HR solution for our clients. We have already established offices in Hong Kong, Shenzhen, 
and Guangzhou, and with the vision of becoming the leading HR service provider in Hong Kong and Mainland 
China, we will continue to grow and expand our team. In addition to the Greater Bay Area (“GBA”), which has 
significantly contributed to our growth in 2021, we aim to expand our footprint in other regions of China in the 
near future.

COVID-19 has certainly made the last two years challenging for a vast number of corporations; however, it has 
also changed how the world operates and sped up the transformation of digital and virtual business operations, 
especially in Hong Kong. Throughout 2021, the world adapted to the new norm and began to deal with the 
pandemic, all while keeping business going as usual. Both Hong Kong’s economic recovery from the adverse 
impact of COVID-19 and our business expansion in Mainland China have offered favourable conditions for our 
Group’s performance in 2021.

Leveraging these positive factors, the revenue generated from the recruitment services of the Group has 
recorded significant growth for the year ended 31 December 2021, as compared to the same period in 
2020. Thanks to the great efforts of management and all of our employees, we were able to seize the market 
opportunities, leading to a strong performance in 2021.

The Group’s revenue recorded an increase of approximately HK$43,663,000 or 66.9% from approximately 
HK$65,285,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$108,948,000 for the year ended 
31 December 2021. Furthermore, the Group reported a net profit of approximately HK$12,804,000 for the year 
ended 31 December 2021, as compared to a net loss of approximately HK$1,617,000 for the year ended 31 
December 2020.

Revenue from Hong Kong operations

In light of the stable local COVID-19 situation in Hong Kong during most of 2021, the economy was able to 
recover with an improved business outlook and better labour market conditions. Both private consumption 
expenditure and total employment resumed growth over the course of 2021, alongside local economic 
recovery. For 2021 as a whole, the gross domestic product (“GDP”) of Hong Kong expanded by 6.4%, while 
private consumption expenditure increased by 5.6% in real terms. With the improved economic situation, Hong 
Kong corporations tended to be more optimistic about economic recovery and resumed their hiring for future 
plans. This is reflected by the active recruitment activities and constant demand for hiring quality talent, especially 
in the financial services (“FS”) and information technology sectors (“IT”), which have contributed approximately 
32.2% and 13.2% to our recruitment service revenue in Hong Kong, respectively.
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As one of the core pillars supporting Hong Kong’s economy, the demand for talent in the FS sector has always 
been high. As banks in Hong Kong allocate more resources to developing finance technologies, green finance, 
and Greater Bay Area wealth management, we have seen a growth in demand for finance talent across a wide 
range of different areas in 2021, including retail banking. Being their revenue generator, front office hiring has 
been highly active and with our dedicated FS team and sufficient candidate pool, we satisfied the talent needs 
of our FS clients effectively.

The pandemic has also accelerated corporations’ transformation in various industries through technology. 
The trend of moving operations online, together with the shortage of IT talent in an already wide range of 
fields, including artificial intelligence, big data, blockchain, and fintech, etc., have created a strong demand for 
IT candidates in 2021. There are numerous IT job openings that needed candidates with specific skills. Our 
experienced IT team was able to address the needs of each position and make timely placements. We see 
great business potential in not only the two aforementioned sectors but also across the whole labour market in 
Hong Kong. We will continue to invest resources to enhance our team in order to deliver the best services to 
our clients.

Overall, 2021 has been a good year for the Hong Kong job market. Better economic performance, government 
schemes, and the resumption of customer confidence levels have all contributed to the higher demand 
for quality hiring. The revenue generated from recruitment services in Hong Kong recorded an increase of 
approximately HK$26,793,000 or 76.6% from approximately HK$34,974,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2020 to approximately HK$61,767,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.

For secondment and payroll outsourcing services, the team has successfully promoted our services to a wider 
range of new clients. By expanding our client base, the revenue generated from secondment and payroll 
outsourcing services in Hong Kong recorded an increase of approximately HK$5,610,000 or 26.5% from 
approximately HK$21,176,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$26,786,000 for the 
year ended 31 December 2021. With the Group’s dedicated staff and established processes, the Group fulfilled 
the needs and expectations of our clients and considerably reduced their time and costs for communication 
and administrative tasks with regards to payroll.

Revenue from Mainland China operations

Throughout the year, Mainland China’s economy continued to recover from the impact of the pandemic. 
Although their economic growth slowed in the second half, with our Mainland China team’s devotion to high 
standards and professional services, the Group demonstrated strong growth momentum and managed to 
grow the revenue from approximately HK$6,383,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately 
HK$17,355,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021, indicating a significant increase of approximately 
HK$10,972,000 or 171.9%.
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The following strategies and expansion plans continue to be in place in our Shenzhen and Guangzhou offices:

•	 Follow the “Outline Development Plan for GBA” (粵港澳大灣區發展規劃綱要) to increase our presence 
in the technology, consumer, and property sectors, mainly in Shenzhen and Guangzhou;

•	 Build teams to focus on domestic Chinese technology, e-commerce, and healthcare companies which 
thrived throughout the pandemic;

•	 Enhance the quality of our current teams through more structured internal and external training; and

•	 Improve public visibility and brand awareness with the existing in-house marketing team.

The Group’s business development strategy in Mainland China has proven to be effective. With additional 
clients and closer connections with existing ones, the Group has driven our Mainland China revenue up in 2021 
– particularly in the technology, internet, and property sectors. The Group’s expertise and specialisation across 
a wide range of industries have allowed us to attract new prospects, develop customer engagement strategies, 
and turn them into clients.

The Group’s Mainland China team will leverage the improving economic condition to further penetrate 
the market and expand our business. It is placing a strong focus on the Mainland China business and its 
performance plays a key role in achieving the Group’s strategic goals and vision.

Looking ahead

With the recent outbreak of the Omicron variant of COVID-19 in 2022, we are fully aware that Hong Kong’s 
pandemic situation may put pressure on the recovering economy and are ready to take on the challenge. 
Our past performance has proven ourselves to be resilient under tough situations and we will stay that way. 
Nevertheless, China has shown a strong growth in GDP of 8.1% in 2021 and based on its more stabilised 
pandemic situation, we foresee our trend of growth in China to continue in 2022, which will provide strong 
support to our Group’s revenue. We see great potential for business in China and will consider expanding into 
other cities at the right time and under the right conditions.

The Group strongly believes that our agility and adaptability will serve us well during the economic rebound. 
We are cautiously optimistic about the Group’s overall performance in 2022 and will continue to strive for 
excellence.
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In 2022, the Group will:

•	 Gather the Group’s existing resources and put a strong focus on industries with recovery potential, such 
as e-commerce, logistics and supply chain, education, and real estate;

•	 Invest in the Group’s team serving the financial services and information technology sectors in Hong 
Kong, as well as businesses in Mainland China, while at the same time closely monitor the performance 
and return on investment;

•	 Drive activity, productivity, and profitability with stringent measures in terms of team composition, 
discipline, and geography;

•	 Recruit selectively from our competition, as well as train, develop, and retain quality recruitment talent 
who are vital to the Group’s long-term organic growth strategy;

•	 Maintain sound liquidity and cashflow management practices;

•	 Strengthen our in-house marketing teams in both Hong Kong and Mainland China to raise brand 
awareness using digital and social media platforms;

•	 Stay ahead of the market and pay close attention to potential investment opportunities that provide 
good returns and/or have synergy with our core business; and

•	 Create more corporate social value as both a public company and HR service company.

Despite the negative impact of the pandemic, we will continue to seek opportunities out of adversity. The 
Group is excited about the possibilities that lie ahead along the path of economic recovery. We are also well 
prepared to fine tune our plans and direction, wherever and whenever needed, to seize those opportunities. 
We will actively explore all possible approaches to extend the Group’s business horizons and will work hard 
in strengthening overall business development. The Group’s business strategy shall always be in line with our 
vision and core values, and from there, we will press on towards our goals.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue was derived from the provision of recruitment services and secondment and payroll services.

The Group’s revenue amounted to approximately HK$108,948,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021, 
increased by approximately HK$43,663,000 or 66.9% as compared to approximately HK$65,285,000 for the 
year ended 31 December 2020.

Set forth below is a breakdown of the total revenue during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

For the year ended 31 December
2021 2020

HK$’000 % of revenue HK$’000 % of revenue

Recruitment services
– Hong Kong 61,767 56.7 34,974 53.6
– Mainland China 17,355 15.9 6,383 9.8    

79,122 72.6 41,357 63.4    

Secondment and payroll services
– Hong Kong 26,786 24.6 21,176 32.4
– Macau 3,040 2.8 2,752 4.2    

29,826 27.4 23,928 36.6    

Total revenue 108,948 100.0 65,285 100.0
     

(i)	 Revenue from recruitment services

We provide recruitment services primarily in Hong Kong and the Mainland China. Revenue from 
recruitment services amounted to approximately HK$79,122,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 
and approximately HK$41,357,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020, representing approximately 
72.6% and 63.4% of the total revenue, respectively.

The increase in the recruitment service revenue of the Group was mainly attributable to the recovery of 
the Hong Kong recruitment market from the pandemic as a result of the increased of demand from the 
clients and a sharp increase in the number of successful placements during the year. Benefiting mainly 
from the economic recovery from the adverse impact brought by the COVID-19 and continuous and 
effective control of COVID-19 in the Mainland China and Hong Kong together with the Group’s business 
expansion in Mainland China, the revenue generated from the recruitment services of the Group has 
recorded a significant growth for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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The recruitment service revenue in Hong Kong increased by approximately HK$26,793,000 or 
76.6% from approximately HK$34,974,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately 
HK$61,767,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. The recruitment service revenue in Mainland 
China increased by approximately HK$10,972,000 or 171.9% from approximately HK$6,383,000 for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$17,355,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2021.

(ii)	 Revenue from secondment and payroll services

We provide secondment and payroll services in Hong Kong and Macau. Revenue from secondment 
and payroll services amounted to approximately HK$29,826,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 
and approximately HK$23,928,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020, representing approximately 
27.4% and 36.6% of the total revenue, respectively. The revenue from secondment and payroll service 
increased approximately HK$5,898,000 or 24.6%. Such increase was mainly attributable to the 
market comeback of the client’s recruitment schedule and hiring plan under the recovering recruitment 
environment.

(iii)	 Revenue by geographical location

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, Hong Kong remained as our major market, which 
contributed approximately 81.3% and 86.0% of the total revenue, respectively. The revenue generated 
from Hong Kong increased from approximately HK$56,150,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 
to approximately HK$88,553,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such increase was primarily 
due to the recovery of the Hong Kong recruitment and secondment market from the pandemic during 
the year ended 31 December 2021. The revenue generated from Mainland China increased from 
approximately HK$6,383,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$17,355,000 
for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such increase was mainly due to our business expansion in 
Mainland China. Although we recorded a significant growth from our recruitment services in Mainland 
China for the year ended 31 December 2021 as compared to 2020, the scale of the operation was still 
small.

Other income

Other income decreased by approximately HK$5,717,000 from approximately HK$5,989,000 for the year 
ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$272,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. The drop 
was primarily due to the Group had recognised government subsidies of approximately HK$5,916,000 during 
the year ended 31 December 2020 under the Employment Support Scheme and other subsidies under the 
Government’s Anti-epidemic Fund in Hong Kong and Macau and no subsidies were granted during the year 
ended 31 December 2021.

Staff costs

Staff costs comprise (i) the salaries and other staff benefits the Group paid to its internal staff for carrying on 
and in support of its business operation; and (ii) the labour cost associated with deployment of seconded staff 
for the secondment and payroll services. The majority of the internal staff costs are the salaries and other staff 
benefits relating to the consultants for carrying on the recruitment services.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the staff costs were approximately HK$77,698,000 (2020: 
approximately HK$57,219,000), which accounted for approximately 71.3% (2020: approximately 87.6%) of the 
revenue. Seconded staff costs for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$27,644,000 (2020: 
approximately HK$21,927,000), representing approximately 35.6% of the total staff costs (2020: approximately 
38.3%). The internal staff costs amounted to approximately HK$50,054,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2021 (2020: approximately HK$35,292,000), representing approximately 64.4% of the total staff costs (2020: 
approximately 61.7%).

The staff costs increased by approximately HK$20,479,000 or 35.8%. The increase was due to (i) the increase 
in the internal staff cost by approximately HK$14,762,000 or 41.8% which was mainly due to the expansion 
of business scale both in the Mainland China and Hong Kong; and (ii) the increase in the seconded staff costs 
by approximately HK$5,717,000 or 26.1% which was in line with the increase in revenue derived from the 
secondment and payroll services.

Other expenses and losses

Other expenses and losses increased by approximately HK$1,333,000 from approximately HK$14,893,000 for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$16,226,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
Other expenses and losses mainly consist of rent and rates, depreciation, marketing and advertising expenses 
and business expenses related to the business expansion in both Hong Kong and Mainland China.

Finance costs

Finance costs represented the interest on lease liability and a bank overdraft facility. The interest on the lease 
liability amounted to approximately HK$111,000 and the interest on a bank overdraft facility amounted to 
approximately HK$57,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the 
interest on lease liability amounted to approximately HK$143,000.

Income tax expense

For the year ended 31 December 2021, income tax expense increased by approximately HK$1,572,000, from 
approximately HK$460,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$2,032,000 for the 
year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to the increase in estimated assessable 
profits from the operating subsidiaries of the Group.

Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group has recovered from the net loss position of approximately HK$1,452,000 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to the net profit position of approximately HK$12,952,000 for the year 
ended 31 December 2021.  If the government subsidies under the Government’s Anti-epidemic Fund in Hong 
Kong and Macau are excluded, the Group would have recorded a net loss for the year ended 31 December 
2020 of approximately HK$7,368,000 as compared to a net profit of approximately HK$12,952,000 for year 
ended 31 December 2021.
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Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 
Nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

The Group financed its operations primarily with the cash generated from its operations. As at 31 December 
2021, the Group had pledged bank deposit of HK$1,200,000 (2020: Nil) and bank balances and cash of 
approximately HK$42,767,000 (2020: approximately HK$32,567,000). The pledged bank deposit and most of 
the bank balances and cash were placed with banks in Hong Kong and the Mainland China. The pledged bank 
deposit was denominated in Hong Kong dollars. 84.0% (2020: 91.6%) of the Group’s bank balances and cash 
was denominated in Hong Kong dollars, whereas 16.0% (2020: 8.4%) was denominated in Renminbi, MOP 
and US dollars. The current ratio, calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities, as at 31 December 
2021 was approximately 3.4 times (2020: approximately 5.0 times).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had bank overdraft of approximately HK$5,965,000 (2020: Nil) and 
lease liability of approximately HK$5,695,000 (2020: approximately HK$1,596,000). The bank overdraft was 
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and repayable within one year. The bank overdraft was secured by the 
pledged bank deposit of HK$1,200,000 and the effective annual interest rate on the bank overdraft is 4.25%. 
Interest rate for the lease is fixed on the contract date.

The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2021 was 22.3% (2020: 4.1%). The gearing ratio was calculated by 
dividing the sum of bank overdraft and lease liability by total equity multiplied by 100%. The increase in gearing 
ratio was mainly attributable to the drawdown of bank overdraft facility during the year ended 31 December 
2021. With available bank balances and cash, the Directors are of the view that the Group has sufficient 
liquidity to satisfy the funding requirements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the revenue-generating operations of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. There was 
no significant exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. As such, no hedging or other arrangements was 
made by the Group during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

SHARE STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the Company’s capital structure during the year ended 31 December 2021. The 
capital of the Company comprises only ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of issued ordinary shares of the Company was 800,000,000 of 
HK$0.01 each.

TREASURY POLICY

The Directors will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing the Group’s cash balances and maintain 
a strong and healthy liquidity to ensure that the Group is well placed to take advantage of future growth 
opportunities.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL 
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, there were no significant investments held by the Group. On 23 June 2021, the 
Group had entered into an investment management agreement with VBG Asset Management Limited for 
discretionary management services with investment amount of up to HK$8,000,000, details of which are set 
out on the Company’s announcements dated 23 June 2021 and 30 June 2021. Save as disclosed herein, the 
Group did not have other plans for material investments or capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, 
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, bank deposit of HK$1,200,000 was pledged to secure the bank overdraft of the 
Group. Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any charges on the Group’s assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 97 (2020: 75) internal staff and 190 (2020: 222) 
seconded staff. The staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, of the Group amounted to approximately 
HK$77,698,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately HK$57,219,000).

The Group’s employees are remunerated in accordance with their performance, qualification, work experience 
and prevailing industry practices. In addition to a basic salary, commission-based bonuses are offered to 
employees whose sales figures exceed a certain level to attract and retain eligible employees to contribute to 
the Group. Share options and discretionary bonus are also available to the Group’s employees at the discretion 
of the Directors and depending upon the financial performance of the Group. Employees are provided with 
relevant in-house and/or external training from time to time.
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COMPARISON BETWEEN BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH ACTUAL 
BUSINESS PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group’s business plan as set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 
28 September 2018 (the “Prospectus”) with actual business progress up to 31 December 2021.

Business strategies
as stated in the Prospectus

Implementation plans
as stated in the Prospectus

Actual business progress up to 
31 December 2021

Expansion of our recruitment 
services and secondment and 
payroll services in Hong Kong

Expand our business team in Hong 
Kong by recruiting additional 
experienced consultants 
specialised in diversified 
functional specialisation

We have completed the expansion 
of our business team in Hong 
Kong accordingly

Expand our office space by leasing 
and renovating new office 
premises in Hong Kong

We have maintained our office 
premises in Hong Kong

Establishment of our presence in 
the PRC recruitment services 
market

Establish our business team 
specialised in recruitment 
services in the PRC by recruiting 
additional consultants

We have completed the expansion 
of our business team in the PRC 
accordingly

Lease a new office space in the 
PRC

We have maintained our office in 
the PRC

Promote our brand awareness in 
the PRC through networks of our 
consultants

We have carried out the promotion 
accordingly
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Business strategies
as stated in the Prospectus

Implementation plans
as stated in the Prospectus

Actual business progress up to 
31 December 2021

Development of marketing 
capability and conducting 
more marketing activities to 
promote our brand

Recruit experienced marketing 
personnel

We have recruited the experienced 
marketing personnel

Engage in advertising activities to 
promote our brand

We have carried out the advertising 
activities accordingly

Participate in events and 
roadshows to connect with 
potential candidates and clients

We have participated accordingly

Enhancement of our IT system Develop additional workflows for 
our different services segments

We have completed the 
development on additional 
workflows

Upgrade the website of our Group We have completed the website 
upgrade

Procure a new business 
intelligence system to facilitate 
decision-making process of our 
management

We have completed the set phases

Automate our work process to 
support our business operation

We have completed such 
automation process
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE OFFER

The net proceeds from the Share Offer were approximately HK$31.0 million, which was based on the placing 
price of HK$0.3 per share and after deducting the underwriting commission and other related expenses. After 
the Listing, the proceeds were used for the purposes in accordance with the future plans as set out in the 
Prospectus. The Group had utilised all of the net proceeds as at 31 December 2021.

During the period from the date of Listing till 31 December 2021, the net proceeds had been utilised as follows:

Net 
proceeds 

from 
the Listing

Net 
proceeds 
remaining 

as at 
1 January 

2021

Net 
proceeds 

utilised 
during the 

year ended 
31 December 

2021

Unutilised 
amount as at 
31 December 

2021
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Expansion of our recruitment services 
and secondment and payroll services 
in Hong Kong 14,222 – – –

Establishment of our presence in the 
PRC recruitment services market 7,994 – – –

Development of marketing capability 
and conducting more marketing 
activities to promote our brand 3,408 570 570 –

Enhancement of our IT system 3,068 660 660 –
General working capital 2,293 – – –    

30,985 1,230 1,230 –
     



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

18 KOS INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED   Annual Report 2021

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ka Kin Kevin (“Mr. Kevin Chan”), aged 44, joined the Group in April 2009 and is the executive 
Director and chairman of the Company. He was appointed as the Director on 19 December 2017 and was 
re-designated as an executive Director on 31 January 2018. Mr. Kevin Chan is responsible for the overall 
strategic planning and business development of the Group. Mr. Kevin Chan is also a director of all subsidiaries 
of the Group.

Mr. Kevin Chan has more than 12 years of experience in the human resources services industry. Mr. Kevin 
Chan joined the Group in April 2009 as director and was responsible for overseeing its daily operation and 
business development. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kevin Chan incorporated several private companies in 
Hong Kong and acted as director, which operated business in the sectors other than the human resources 
services industry, such as food and beverages and retail.

Mr. Kevin Chan is the elder brother of Mr. Eddie Chan and Mr. Jackson Chan.

Mr. Chan Ka On Eddie (“Mr. Eddie Chan”), aged 39, is the executive Director. He was appointed as the 
Director on 19 December 2017 and was re-designated as the executive Director on 31 January 2018. Mr. 
Eddie Chan is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day management and operation of the Group. Mr. Eddie 
Chan is also a director of all subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Eddie Chan has over 18 years of experience in the human resources services industry. Prior to founding 
the Group, Mr. Eddie Chan has served in senior positions in leading renowned human resources companies 
including Jobs DB Hong Kong Limited and Monster.com Asia Pacific Limited, focusing on business 
development. Together with his working experience at Robert Walters (Hong Kong) Limited, Mr. Eddie Chan 
has acquired in-depth expertise in the human resources service industry which allowed him to manage and 
supervise daily operations for the Group.

Mr. Eddie Chan is the younger brother of Mr. Kevin Chan and the elder brother of Mr. Jackson Chan.
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Mr. Chan Ka Shing Jackson (“Mr. Jackson Chan”), aged 39, is the executive Director. He was appointed as 
the Director on 19 December 2017 and was re-designated as the executive Director on 31 January 2018. Mr. 
Jackson Chan is responsible for overseeing marketing and execution of strategic and operational planning of 
the Group. Mr. Jackson Chan is also a director of all subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Jackson Chan has over 19 years of experience in the human resources services industry. Prior to 
joining the Group, Mr. Jackson Chan has served in senior positions in leading renowned human resources 
companies including Jobs DB Hong Kong Limited and Monster.com Asia Pacific Limited, focusing on business 
development. Together with his working experience at Michael Page International (Hong Kong) Limited, Mr. 
Jackson Chan has acquired in-depth expertise in the human resources service industry which allowed him to 
develop and execute strategic plans for the Group.

Mr. Jackson Chan is dedicated to charity work and youth development. He is a board member of InspiringHK 
Sports Foundation, a local charity established in 2012, with a vision of developing better youths through sports. 
He is also a committee member of the Hong Kong Youth Development Alliance and a Mentor of the Executive 
Mentoring Programme of City University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Jackson Chan has obtained a professional diploma in marketing jointly awarded by The Chinese University 
of Hong Kong and Hong Kong Institute of Marketing in 2005. He is currently pursuing an Executive Master of 
Business Administration degree at City University of Hong Kong, expecting graduation in 2023.

Mr. Jackson Chan is the younger brother of Mr. Kevin Chan and Mr. Eddie Chan.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Kai Kin (“Mr. Poon”), aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 
13 September 2018. He is the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and a member of the 
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Poon has approximately 22 years of experience in the human resources services and finance industries. 
Prior to joining the Group, he worked at Ernst & Whinney (currently known as Ernst & Young) from October 
1987 to August 1992 and his last position was deputy manager. Mr. Poon was co-founder and director of 
Jobs DB Hong Kong Limited from June 1998 to June 2006. Mr. Poon is a member of Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants and has been a member of Australia Society of Accountants (currently known as 
CPA Australia) since February 1987.

Mr. Poon graduated from University of New England with a degree of bachelor of financial administration in 
April 1986 and later obtained a degree of master of commerce awarded by University of New South Wales in 
October 1987.
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Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles (“Dr. Lau”), aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 
on 1 February 2021. He is the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company and a member of the 
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Dr. Lau possesses about 36 years executive experiences in corporate control, financial management, risk 
management and internal control gained from international listed companies. Dr. Lau has been appointed as 
an executive director of Sitoy Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1023) (“Sitoy”) from 1 June 2017, and he 
is responsible for the development of the retail business. He was also the chief financial officer of Sitoy and 
its subsidiaries between August 2015 and September 2020, and was the company secretary and authorised 
representative of Sitoy between November 2016 and September 2020, and was responsible for the overall 
financial management and reporting, internal control, risk management, day-to-day financial administration, and 
for supporting the development of retail business and corporate governance. Before joining Sitoy in 2015, he 
held key corporate executive positions in various conglomerates, including: vice president of China Resources 
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (stock code: 291, formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited), 
deputy head of internal audit for Hutchison Whampoa Limited, executive director and chief investment officer 
of China Public Procurement Limited (stock code: 1094), and chief financial officer and company secretary of 
Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, Limited (stock code: 71).

Dr. Lau holds a Doctorate degree in Business Administration from the Newcastle University of Australia, Master 
degree in Information System Management from the National University of Ireland, and a Bachelor degree in 
Accounting from the Curtin University of Technology, Australia. He is a Chartered Accountant (New Zealand 
& Australia), Certified Internal Auditor (US), and also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia.
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Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-executive 
Director on 12 October 2021. He is the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company and a member 
of the audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Cheung possesses more than 20 years of executive experience in corporate control, management, risk 
management and advisory services. Mr. Cheung has been appointed as a director of Beautiful Enterprise 
Company Limited from March 2000, and he is responsible for the overall day-to-day management of the 
business involved in consumer electronics manufacturing. Mr. Cheung is also the founder and chief executive 
officer of three companies: Twine International Limited in June 2009, Twine Co., Limited in October 2018, and 
Wayne Cheung Capital Limited in November 2018. Both Twine International Limited and Twine Co., Limited 
are primarily engaged in the business of consumer electronics manufacturing, whereas Wayne Cheung Capital 
Limited is primarily focused on investments. Furthermore, Mr. Cheung is a member of the Standing Committee 
of the Communist Party of China Xing Ning Municipal Committee, and a member of Boston University 
International Advisory Board.

Mr. Cheung graduated from Boston University of the United States with a degree of bachelor of Science with a 
major in Engineering in May 1999, and obtained a Certificate of General Management from Harvard Business 
School of the United States in May 2008.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Yeung Shek Shek Louisa (“Ms. Yeung”), aged 56, joined the Group in April 2017 as chief executive 
officer of the Group. Ms. Yeung is responsible for overseeing the daily operation, training and development of 
our employees and formulating the overall strategies and planning of the Group with the Board.

Ms. Yeung has approximately 25 years of experience in the human resources services industry. Prior to 
joining the Group, from July 1988 to April 1997, she worked at Price Waterhouse (currently known as 
PricewaterhouseCoopers) and her last position was tax manager. From April 1997 to March 2017, she worked 
at Michael Page International (Hong Kong) Limited and she had been director of finance in Hong Kong and 
South China region between December 2006 and June 2011 and managing director of Hong Kong and 
South China region between July 2011 and August 2013, and her last position was managing director in Page 
Executive Greater China division since 2013, where she was responsible for building the Page Executive brand 
and establishing the recruitment business operations in Shenzhen and Guangzhou in China, and the company 
had 10 offices in China when she left.

Ms. Yeung was awarded professional diploma (with distinction) in company secretaryship and administration 
by Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1988. She 
became an associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in August 1991. Ms. Yeung 
became a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in March 1997, a fellow of Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February 2001 and a fellow of CPA Australia in October 2008.
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The Directors hereby submit their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in providing 
recruitment services and secondment and payroll services in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China.

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2021 are set out in note 31 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the 
year under review and a discussion on the Group’s future business development and outlook of the Company’s 
business are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 5 and “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 17 of this report.

Risks and uncertainties

The Group believes that there are risks and uncertainties involved in its operations. Some of the relatively 
material risks include (i) the Group’s success depends on key management personnel and experienced 
consultants; (ii) the nature of business of the Group is labour intensive, if we experience any shortage of labour 
or material increase in staff costs, the Group’s business operation and financial results would be adversely 
affected; (iii) a significant portion of Group’s revenue was generated from the largest client during the year 
ended 31 December 2021 and any significant decrease in the demand from such client for the Group’s 
services may materially and adversely affect the Group’s financial conditions and operating results; (iv) the 
software, computer and network systems of the Group may not perform as anticipated and are vulnerable to 
damage and interruption, which may lead to leakage of personal data of individual candidates; (v) the Group 
may not be able to implement all or any of the business plans successfully; and (vi) there may be risks in 
exploring the Mainland China market.

In addition, various financial risks have been disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis using financial key performance indicators

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December 2021 using financial performance 
indicators is provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 17 of this 
report.
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Environmental protection

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment from its business activities. The Group 
has endeavored to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and encourages 
environmental protection and promotes awareness towards environmental protections to the employees.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements and risks of non-compliance 
with such requirements. The Group has on-going review the new enacted laws and regulations affecting the 
operations of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group is not aware of any material 
non-compliance with the laws and regulations that have significant impact on the business of Group.

Relationships with employees and customers

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group ensures all employees is reasonably 
remunerated and regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees and other benefits. The Group also 
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its customers to fulfil its short and long-term 
goals.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 74 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 
Nil).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to 
HK$140,000 (2020: HK$2,000).

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year ended 31 December 
2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 33 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the reserves of the Company available for distribution to shareholders under the 
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands amounted to approximately HK$2,327,000 (2020: HK$2,200,000).
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Options Scheme” of this Directors’ Report, no equity-linked 
agreement was entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set 
out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association and there is no 
restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer 
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out 
on page 134 of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE 
COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 
securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 13 September 2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”).

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since the 
adoption of the Share Option Scheme and there was no share option outstanding as at 31 December 2021.
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The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme:

(a)	 Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to selected 
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Company.

(b)	 Participants

The participants of the Share Option Scheme include full time or part time employees of the Group 
(including any Directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether independent or not, of the 
Company or any subsidiary) and any suppliers, clients, consultants, agents, advisers, franchisees, joint 
venture partners and related entities to the Group. The basis of eligibility of any of the above classes 
of participants to the grant of any options shall be determined by the Directors from time to time on 
the basis of the participants contribution to the development and growth of the Group. In order for a 
person to satisfy the Directors that he is qualified to be (or where applicable, continues to qualify to be) a 
participant, such person shall provide all such information as the Directors may request for the purpose 
of assessing his eligibility (or continuing eligibility).

(c)	 Maximum number of Shares available for issue

As at the date of this report, the maximum number of Shares available for issue was 80,000,000 
representing 10% of the Shares in issue.

(d)	 Maximum entitlement of each participant and connected persons

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted to each 
participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any twelve (12)-month period up to the 
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

(e)	 Acceptance of options

An offer shall be accepted by the participant concerned within 28 days from the date of the offer of 
grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer of the grant of an 
option.

(f)	 Time of exercise of option

The period under which an option may be exercised shall be such period as the Board may in its 
absolute discretion determine at the time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any event 
no later than 10 years from the date of grant (which is the date of offer of grant if the offer for the grant 
of the option is accepted) but subject to the early termination of the Share Option Scheme.
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(g)	 Subscription price of Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option granted under the Share Option Scheme, 
subject to any adjustments made in accordance with the Share Option Scheme, shall be such price as 
the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not be less than the 
highest of (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheet for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option (which must be 
a Business Day); (ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must be a Business Day); and (iii) the nominal value of the 
Shares.

(h)	 Duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the date of its 
adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ka Kin Kevin (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Ka On Eddie
Mr. Chan Ka Shing Jackson

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tong Kam Piu (resigned on 12 October 2021)
Mr. Poon Kai Kin
Mr. Wang Ho Pang (resigned on 1 February 2021)
Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles (appointed on 1 February 2021)
Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne (appointed on 12 October 2021)

In accordance with the article 83(3) of the amended and restated articles of association of the Company (the 
“Articles of Association”), Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne will retire and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election 
at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 12 May 2022 (the “AGM”), being the 
first general meeting of the shareholders of the Company after his appointment.
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In accordance with the article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting of the 
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the 
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director 
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. 
Chan Ka Kin Kevin and Mr. Poon Kai Kin will retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election as Directors at the AGM.

Emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in note 11 
to the consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments of the Directors are subject to review by the remuneration committee of the Company. Their 
emoluments are determined with reference to their roles and responsibilities in the Group and the prevailing 
market conditions.

The Company has adopted share option scheme as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details 
of the share option scheme are set out in the Share Options Scheme section above and in note 30 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of 
three years commencing from 12 October 2018 and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party by 
giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for 
a term of three years. The term of appointment of Mr. Poon Kai Kin, Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles and Mr. Cheung 
Wang Kei Wayne will expire on 11 October 2024, 31 January 2024 and 11 October 2024, respectively.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the 
Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 
compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the Company at the date of this report are set 
out in the Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management section on pages 18 to 21 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN 
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to 
which the Company’s subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a Director had a material 
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 
December 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2021 was the Company, its subsidiaries or its other associated 
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors (including their spouse and children under 
18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of the shares or underlying shares in, or 
debentures of, the Company or any of its associated corporations.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES 
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of each Director and chief executive of the 
Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), which were required to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which 
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or which 
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by 
Directors, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company

Name of
Directors Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of
Shares held

Approximate
percentage

 of the issued
share capital

Mr. Chan Ka Kin Kevin  
(“Mr. Kevin Chan”)

Interest in a controlled corporation and 
interest held jointly with another person 
(Note 1)

600,000,000 75%

Mr. Chan Ka On Eddie  
(“Mr. Eddie Chan”)

Interest in a controlled corporation and 
interest held jointly with another person 
(Note 1)

600,000,000 75%

Mr. Chan Ka Shing Jackson 
(“Mr. Jackson Chan”)

Interest in a controlled corporation and 
interest held jointly with another person 
(Note 1)

600,000,000 75%
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Note:

1.	 Among such 600,000,000 Shares, 450,000,000 Shares are registered in the name of KJE Limited and 150,000,000 
Shares are registered in the name of Caiden Holdings Limited. KJE Limited was owned as to approximately 33.33% 
by Mr. Kevin Chan, 33.33% by Mr. Eddie Chan and 33.33% by Mr. Jackson Chan and accordingly each of them 
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by KJE Limited under the SFO. Caiden Holdings Limited is wholly 
owned by Mr. Chow Ka Wai Raymond (“Mr. Raymond Chow”) and Mr. Raymond Chow is therefore deemed to be 
interested in all the Shares held by Caiden Holdings Limited under the SFO. On 18 January 2018, Mr. Kevin Chan, 
Mr. Eddie Chan, Mr. Jackson Chan and Mr. Raymond Chow executed a deed of concert parties arrangement and 
they have been and will be acting in concert pursuant to the deed. Therefore, each of Mr. Kevin Chan, Mr. Eddie 
Chan and Mr. Jackson Chan is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by KJE Limited and Caiden Holdings 
Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company 
has or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in any shares, debentures or underlying shares of 
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required 
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO 
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of 
the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to 
therein or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities 
transactions by Directors, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS 
IN THE SHARES, DEBENTURES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE 
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2021, the following person (other than the Directors or 
chief executive of the Company the interests of which were disclosed above) or corporation had interest or 
short position in the shares of the Company which were required to be entered in the register of the Company 
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares of the Company

Name of substantial
shareholders

	
Capacity/ Nature of interest

Number of 
Shares held

Approximate 
percentage 

of the issued 
share capital

KJE Limited Beneficial owner and interest held jointly with 
another person (Note 1)

600,000,000 75%

Caiden Holdings Limited Beneficial owner and interest held jointly with 
another person (Note 1)

600,000,000 75%

Mr. Raymond Chow Interest in a controlled corporation and 
interest held jointly with another person 
(Note 1)

600,000,000 75%
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Note:

1.	 Among such 600,000,000 Shares, 450,000,000 Shares are registered in the name of KJE Limited and 150,000,000 
Shares are registered in the name of Caiden Holdings Limited. KJE Limited was owned as to approximately 33.33% 
by Mr. Kevin Chan, 33.33% by Mr. Eddie Chan and 33.33% by Mr. Jackson Chan and accordingly each of them 
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by KJE Limited under the SFO. Caiden Holdings Limited is wholly 
owned by Mr. Raymond Chow and Mr. Raymond Chow is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares held 
by Caiden Holdings Limited under the SFO. On 18 January 2018, Mr. Kevin Chan, Mr. Eddie Chan, Mr. Jackson 
Chan and Mr. Raymond Chow executed a deed of concert parties arrangement and they have been and will be 
acting in concert pursuant to the deed. Therefore, Mr. Raymond Chow is deemed to be interested in all the Shares 
held by KJE Limited and Caiden Holdings Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any person 
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company the interests of which were disclosed above) 
who has an interest or short position in the securities of the Company that were required to be entered in the 
register of the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 15.8% 
(2020: 24.1%) of the total revenue of the Group while the five largest customers of the Group in aggregate 
accounted for approximately 38.9% (2020: 45.6%) of the total revenue of the Group.

Due to the nature of the business of the Group, there is no major suppliers during the year (2020: Nil).

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more 
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major suppliers or customers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is 
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued shares at any time during 
the year ended 31 December 2021 and to the date of this report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out 
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and 
expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred 
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices, provided that 
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of 
them.

The Company has also taken out and maintained Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for the purpose 
of indemnifying for losses in respect of potential legal actions against the Directors and other officers of the 
Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Other than the payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, the Social Security Fund 
Contribution in Macau and the defined contribution retirement benefit schemes in the Mainland China, the 
Group has not operated any other retirement benefit schemes for its employees. Particulars of the retirement 
benefit schemes are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate 
Governance Report on pages 33 to 43 of this report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders or their respective associates (as defined 
in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company had an interest in a business which competed with or might compete 
with the business of the Group.

A deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) dated 19 September 2018 was executed in favour 
of the Company by Mr. Kevin Chan, Mr. Eddie Chan, Mr. Jackson Chan and Mr. Raymond Chow (collectively 
the “Controlling Shareholders”) regarding certain non-competition undertakings. The details of the Deed of 
Non-competition have been disclosed under the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” in 
the prospectus of the Company dated 28 September 2018.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has given an annual declaration to the Company confirming that he 
has complied with the non-compete undertakings to the Company under the Deed of Non-competition. The 
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the compliance with the Deed of Non-competition and are 
satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the provisions of the Deed of Non-Competition 
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The “related party transactions” as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 do not constitute a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction as 
defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by the Group after 31 December 2021 
and up to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the auditor of the Company at the close of the annual general meeting 
of the Company held on 12 May 2020 and did not seek for re-appointment. D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED 
was appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from 1 June 2020 to fill the causal vacancy following 
the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and to hold office until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual 
general meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditor of the Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been audited by D & 
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED who will retire and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-appointment. A resolution 
for re-appointment of D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Ka Kin Kevin
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices enhancing 
greater transparency and quality of disclosure as well as more effective internal control.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has complied with the code provisions of the 
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules except for 
the deviation as stated below.

Code Provision A.6.7

Under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-executive directors and other non-executive 
directors should attend general meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the 
shareholders. Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles, the independent non-executive Director, was unable to attend the 
annual general meeting of the Company held on 12 May 2021 due to his other business engagements.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing 
Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions of the Company. Having made 
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of 
dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors throughout the year ended 
31 December 2021.

The Company’s code of conduct also applies to all employees who are likely to be in the possession of 
inside information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Company’s code of conduct by the 
employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company currently comprises a total of six Directors, with three 
executive Directors namely Mr. Chan Ka Kin Kevin (as Chairman), Mr. Chan Ka On Eddie, and Mr. Chan Ka 
Shing Jackson and three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Poon Kai Kin, Dr. Lau Kin Shing 
Charles and Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne. A list containing the names of the Directors and their roles and 
functions is published on the Company’s website and the GEM website at www.hkgem.com. To the best 
knowledge of the Company, other than Mr. Chan Ka Kin Kevin, Mr. Chan Ka On Eddie and Mr. Chan Ka Shing 
Jackson are brothers, there is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship between 
the members of the Board. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Biographical Details of Directors 
and Senior Management” on pages 18 to 21 of this report.
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The Company complies at all times during the year ended 31 December 2021 with the requirements under 
the Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules respectively relating to the appointment of 
at least three independent non-executive Directors and one of which should have appropriate professional 
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise and the independent non-executive 
Directors represent at least one-third of the Board.

The Board is collectively responsible for formulating the strategic business development, reviewing and 
monitoring the business performance of the Group. Key and important decisions shall be fully discussed at the 
board meetings. All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters proposed for inclusion in the notice 
of board meeting. Matters requiring the Board’s approval include review of overall policies, corporate plan of 
the Company, investment plans which would involve significant risks for the Company, major organisation 
changes, significant sales, transfers, or other dispositions of property or assets, approval of the annual report, 
interim report, quarterly report and approval of interim dividend and recommendation of the final dividend, 
other matters relating to the Company’s business which in the judgment of the executive Directors are of such 
significance as to merit the Board’s consideration.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules, and the nomination committee of the Company 
has assessed the independence of each of the independent non-executive Directors and the Company 
considers that all independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence set out 
in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with terms of the guidelines.

Nine Board meetings and one general meeting were held during the year ended 31 December 2021. The 
chairman of the Board met with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of executive 
Directors during the year.
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Here below is the attendance record of Directors at the meetings held during the year ended 31 December 
2021:

Number of meetings attended/held

2021 AGM Board
Audit

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Ka Kin Kevin 1/1 9/9 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Chan Ka On Eddie 1/1 9/9 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Chan Ka Shing Jackson 1/1 9/9 N/A N/A N/A

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Kam Piu (resigned on  

12 October 2021) 1/1 7/7 4/4 4/4 3/3
Mr. Poon Kai Kin 1/1 9/9 5/5 4/4 3/3
Mr. Wang Ho Pang (resigned on  

1 February 2021) N/A 0/1 1/1 1/1 1/1
Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles  

(appointed on 1 February 2021) 0/1 8/8 4/4 3/3 2/2
Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne  

(appointed on 12 October 2021) N/A 2/2 1/1 0/0 0/0
      

The Company’s last annual general meeting was held on 12 May 2021 (the “2021 AGM”). Dr. Lau Kin Shing 
Charles, the independent non-executive Director, was unable to attend the 2021 AGM due to his other 
business engagements. The chairman of the Board as well as the other independent non-executive Directors 
attended the 2021 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITIES INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities in respect of 
potential legal actions against the Directors and officers of the Company.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Development and training of Directors is an ongoing process so that they can perform their duties appropriately. 
Update on changes to the GEM Listing Rules are provided by the company secretary of the Company where 
Directors are informed of the impact of such developments or changes to the Company and the external 
auditors has also provided briefing on changes or amendments to accounting standards at the audit committee 
meeting.

Training was provided for Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles and Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne upon their joining 
the Board in February 2021 and October 2021 respectively. The training covers an overview of directors’ 
responsibilities, a briefing on the Group’s culture and business as well as other key governance issues. 
The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to develop and refresh their duties 
and responsibilities. All Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s 
expense, and they have been requested to provide the Company with their training records.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are held separately by Mr. Chan Ka Kin Kevin 
and Ms. Yeung Shek Shek Louisa respectively.

The chairman is responsible for management of the Board and strategic planning of the Group, ensures that 
the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities, encourages all Directors to make a full and 
active contribution to the Board’s affairs and taking the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests 
of the Group. The role of chief executive officer is responsible to undertake the day-to-day management of the 
Group’s business.

The separation of duties of the chairman and chief executive officer of the Company ensures a clear distinction 
between the chairman’s responsibility for running the Board and the chief executive officer’s responsibility for 
running the Group’s business.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the approach of which the Board could 
achieve a higher level of diversity. The Company recognises the benefits of having a diversified Board to 
enhance the quality of its performance. In summary, the board diversity policy sets out that when considering 
the nomination and appointment of a director, with the assistance of the nomination committee, the Board 
would consider a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, professional experience and qualification, skills and length of service of the prospective candidate. 
The ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merit and the contribution which the prospective 
candidate would bring to the Board. All Board appointments will be considered against objective criteria, 
having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board in order to best serve the shareholders and other 
stakeholders of the Company going forward.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six members, amongst them, three are independent non-
executive Directors. All the executive Directors possess extensive experience in human resources services 
industry. The independent non-executive Directors possess extensive knowledge and experience in human 
resources services, corporate control and advisory services, finance as well as accounting and auditing. 
Furthermore, the Board has a wide range of age, ranging from 39 years old to 66 years old. Taking into account 
the existing needs of the Company, the combination of the Board would bring about the necessary balance of 
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business development of the Company, despite 
the lack of gender diversity.

Pursuant to the amended Rule 17.104 of the GEM Listing Rules (effective from 1 January 2022), the Stock 
Exchange will not regard a single gender board of directors as achieving member diversity. As at the date of 
this report, the directors of the Board are all male directors, and have not achieved diversity under the amended 
Rule 17.104 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company will comply with the relevant rule before 31 December 
2024.

The nomination committee will monitor the implementation of the board diversity policy from time to time to 
ensure its continual effectiveness.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), 
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) 
with defined terms of reference.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 13 September 2018 in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing 
Rules and with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the 
GEM Listing Rules. It currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Kai Kin, 
Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles and Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne. Mr. Poon Kai Kin is the chairman of the Audit 
Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include making recommendations to the Board on the appointment 
and approval of external auditors, reviewing and supervising the financial statements and material advice 
in respect of financial reporting, overseeing internal control procedures and corporate governance of the 
Company, supervising internal control and risk management systems of the Company and monitoring 
continuing connected transactions (if any).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held five meetings and two meetings were 
attended by the Company’s external auditor. The attendance of each of the members of the Audit Committee 
was set out on page 35 of this report.
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The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 December 
2021:

(i)	 Reviewed the annual report and the annual results announcement for the year ended 31 December 
2020, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

(ii)	 Reviewed the external auditor’s independence and its report in relation to the audit of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2020, and recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of the external 
auditor of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company;

(iii)	 Reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group;

(iv)	 Reviewed the quarterly report and the quarterly results announcement for the three months ended 31 
March 2021, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

(v)	 Reviewed the interim report and the interim results announcement for the six months ended 30 June 
2021, with a recommendation to the Board for approval; and

(vi)	 Reviewed the quarterly report and the quarterly results announcement for the nine months ended 30 
September 2021, with a recommendation to the Board for approval.

Prior to the commencement of the audit of the Group’s 2021 financial statements, the Audit Committee has 
discussed with the external auditor the audit planning work (including the nature and scope of the audit and 
reporting obligations), received confirmation from the external auditor of its independence and approved the 
audit fees.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 13 September 2018 in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the 
GEM Listing Rules and with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 
15 to the GEM Listing Rules. It currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. 
Poon Kai Kin, Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles and Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne. Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles is the 
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making recommendations to the 
Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of 
the Group, reviewing other remuneration-related matters, including benefits-in-kind and other compensation 
payable to the Directors and senior management, and reviewing performance based remunerations and 
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy in relation to remuneration.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee held four meetings to (i) review and 
recommend to the Board for approval the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management and 
(ii) review on the policy and structure of the remuneration package of the Directors and senior management. 
The attendance of each of the members of the Remuneration Committee was set out on page 35 of this report.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will review the proposal made by the 
management on the remuneration package of individual executive Directors and senior management and make 
recommendations to the Board. The Board will have final authority to approve the recommendations made by 
the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group excluding the Directors by band for 
the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) Number of individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1

  

Details of the emoluments of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 11 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 13 September 2018 with written terms of reference in 
compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. It currently comprises three 
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Kai Kin, Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles and Mr. Cheung 
Wang Kei Wayne. Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size, composition and 
diversity of the Board on a regular basis, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, 
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors, making recommendations to the Board 
on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and making recommendations 
to the Board regarding the candidates to fill vacancies on the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee held three meetings to (i) review the 
structure, size and composition of the existing Board and assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and (ii) review and recommend to the Board for approval the proposed appointment of 
each of Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles and Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne as independent non-executive Director. 
The attendance of each of the members of the Nomination Committee was set out on page 35 of this report. 
The Nomination Committee had recommended the re-nomination of Mr. Chan Ka Kin Kevin, Mr. Poon Kai Kin 
and Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne for re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 
Thursday, 12 May 2022. The Board had accepted the Nomination Committee’s recommendation.
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Nomination policy

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make 
recommendations to the shareholders of the Company for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint 
as Directors to fill casual vacancies. When the Nomination Committee considers it appropriate, it invites 
nominations of candidates from Board members or any person and makes recommendations for the Board’s 
consideration and approval.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination Committee would consider factors 
including:

(a)	 reputation for integrity;

(b)	 experience in human resources services industry, management, legal and financial aspects;

(c)	 whether the proposed candidate is able to assist the Board in effective performance of its 
responsibilities;

(d)	 the perspectives and skills that the proposed candidate is expected to bring to the Board;

(e)	 diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(f)	 commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and

(g)	 in the case of selection for independent non-executive Directors, the independence of the proposed 
candidate.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee 
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group. In preparing 
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors have selected appropriate 
accounting policies, applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and 
reasonable, and ensured the preparation of the financial statements on the going concern basis.

The statement by the auditors of the Company, D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED, about their reporting 
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The analysis of the auditor’s remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2021 is presented as follows:

Services rendered Fees paid/payable
HK$’000

Audit services 800
  

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The management identified and evaluated the significant risks relevant to the Group based on their experience 
in the business environment. They regularly met with frontline employees and continuously monitored business 
performance comparing to operational plan and financial forecasts. The risk management and internal control 
systems are in place to cope with potential risk in different areas including liquidity, fraud and financial reporting, 
operational and compliance risks.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems and 
reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such risk management and internal control systems are 
designed for managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company does not have an internal audit function and is 
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal audit function within the Group in 
light of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. Nevertheless, the Company has engaged an 
external professional firm, as its risk management and internal control review adviser (the “Adviser”) for the year 
ended 31 December 2021, to conduct the annual review of the risk management system and internal control 
system that covers financial, operational and compliance controls. The Adviser has reported findings and areas 
for improvement to the management and Audit Committee, which then reviewed and reported the same to the 
Board. The Board and Audit Committee are of the view that there are no material internal control defeats noted. 
The Board considered that the risk management and internal audit control system are effective and adequate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the internal auditor conducted audit review on controls and compliance 
with policies and procedures of the Group at both operational and corporate levels. The internal auditor 
has reported findings and areas for improvement to the management and the Audit Committee, which then 
reviewed and reported the same to the Board. The Board and Audit Committee are of the view that there are 
no material internal control defeats noted. The Board considered that the risk management and internal audit 
control system are effective and adequate.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the Group has adopted a policy on 
disclosure of inside information with the aim to ensure that the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality 
requirement and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside information.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Chang Kam Lai. Ms. Chang Kam Lai is a fellow of the Association 
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Ms. Chang Kam Lai undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant 
professional training.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Chan Ka Shing Jackson is the compliance officer of the Company. His biographical details are set out in 
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management on page 19 of this report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital 
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company may request the Board 
to convene an extraordinary general meeting pursuant to the article 58 of the articles of association of the 
Company. The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionist(s) 
and deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (presently at Suite 610, 6th 
Floor, Ocean Centre, No. 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong) for the attention of the 
company secretary of the Company.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the 
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene a meeting, but such meeting shall be held within two months 
after the deposit of requisition.
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Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar 
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s 
Road East, Hong Kong.

Other shareholders’ enquiries can be directed in writing with contact details (including name, address, 
telephone number and email address) to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong, 
presently at Suite 610, 6th Floor, Ocean Centre, No. 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or 
by email to info@kos-intl.com.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting

Proposals shall be directed in writing with contact details (including name, address, telephone number and 
email address) to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Board will verify the requisition and upon confirming that the requisition is proper and in order, the Board 
will proceed with the necessary procedures.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between meeting the shareholders’ expectations and prudent 
capital management with a sustainable dividend policy. The Company’s dividend policy aims to allow 
shareholders to participate in the Company’s profit and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future 
growth. In proposing any dividend payout, the Company would consider various factors including the Company 
and the Group’s actual and expected financial performance, the Group’s current and future operations, the 
level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, liquidity position and capital requirement of the Group, general market 
conditions and any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company’s website offers communication channel between the Company and its shareholders and 
investors. Apart from disclosure of all necessary information to the shareholders in compliance with the GEM 
Listing Rules, news update of Company’s business development and operation are available on the Company’s 
website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no changes to the memorandum and articles of 
association of the Company. The memorandum and articles of association of the Company is available on the 
website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Hong Kong, 23 March 2022
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the fourth Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) report of KOS International Holdings Limited 
(the “Company”, and collectively with its subsidiaries referred as the “Group”), highlighting ESG performance, 
with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 20 of the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Guidance 
provided by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Group is a Hong Kong-based human resources solutions provider that is dedicated to delivering high 
quality recruitment, secondment, and payroll services to clients. This ESG report covers the Group’s overall 
environmental and social performances of its major business operations in its offices in Hong Kong, Macau, 
Shenzhen, and Guangzhou of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) from 1 January 2021 to 31 
December 2021, unless otherwise stated.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” 
set out in Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited and Guidance provided by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Guide”). The 
contents covered herein are in compliance with the provision of “Comply of Explain” as well as four reporting 
principles of materiality, quantitativeness, balance and consistency required in the Guide.

Materiality – Materiality assessments have been carried out to identify material environmental and social issues 
that have major impacts on investors and other stakeholders, the significant stakeholders, procedures, and 
results of the engagement of which are presented in the section “Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality” in 
the Report.

Quantitativeness – Key performance indicators (“KPI”s) have been established, and are measurable 
and applicable to make valid comparisons under appropriate conditions; information on the standards, 
methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used, and sources of conversion factors used, have 
been disclosed when applicable.

Balance – The Report presents the Group’s performance during the Reporting Period in an impartial 
manner, avoiding choices, omissions or presentation formats that may unduly influence readers’ decisions or 
judgements.

Consistency – Consistent statistical methodologies and presentation of KPIs have been used to allow 
meaningful comparisons of related data over time.
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REPORTING LANGUAGE

The Report is published in both English and Traditional Chinese versions. In case of discrepancies the English 
version shall prevail.

THE STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

For the past 2 years, businesses all over the world have been greatly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
We have learnt the lesson that to withstand difficult macroeconomic situations, sustainability is the key to 
success. At the same time, stakeholders are increasingly nudging corporations to take sustainability factors 
into consideration when doing businesses. As a corporate citizen, the Group recognises this and continues to 
make sustainability its operational focus. We are dedicated to improving our sustainability performance in our 
operations. We understand that sustainability governance is the foundation to a successful operation.

The Board is, therefore, responsible in setting our strategic direction, ensuring that our ESG strategy reflects 
the Group’s values and core businesses. In the future, the Board will review the progress made against ESG-
related goals to guide the Group in monitoring its ESG performance.

To better understand the demands and expectations of our stakeholders, we invite employees, and clients to 
participate in a survey to maintain effective communication, allowing us to better accommodate their needs. 
The Group also tries to leverage its expertise in helping local communities to flourish by offering special 
discounts to a local food charity by storing surplus food in its cold storage facilities, helping to reduce food 
waste as well as give support to people in need.

Through embedding sustainability in our business concept, we create greater value for both our stakeholders 
and society. Without the contribution of our employees, customers, business partners and communities, it 
would not have been possible for our Group to have achieved so much.

Looking ahead, to tackle future challenges, we will continue to drive our sustainability performance and further 
incorporate sustainability into our core strategy. This report sets out our sustainability practices and approaches 
throughout the past year. We hope this report will provide our stakeholders an overview of our sustainability 
performance.
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THE GROUP’S FUTURE DEVELOPMENT AND COMMITMENTS

The Group commits to becoming a responsible corporate which upholds a high standard of corporate 
governance, strictly follows the code of ethics, advocates environmental protection and community services, 
and promotes social responsibility practices. It also embeds social responsibility into its operation and 
management to facilitate sustainability in economy, society and the environment.

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s sustainability strategy and reporting. The sustainability 
plan of the Group is developed based on results of ESG Reports, which is reviewed on an annual basis and 
adjusted as needed to align with the long-term business strategy of the Group.

Furthermore, the Board is committed to setting up an ESG task force team to assess and manage ESG-related 
issues. These measures shall ensure the sustainable and responsible growth and operation of the Group.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

During the Reporting Period, the Group has specifically engaged its board of directors, senior management, 
frontline employees, and clients to gain further insights on ESG aspects they find material and relevant 
challenges that they may induce. A materiality assessment has then been produced according to the 
engagement as follows.

Materiality of Different Topics from Stakeholder Engagement

Internal Assessment on Importance to Business
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Environmental Practices Labour Practices Operational Practices

A1	 Energy
A2	 Water
A3	 Air Emission
A4	 Waste and Effluent
A5	 Other Raw Materials 

Consumption
A6	 Environmental Protection 

Measures
A7	 Climate Change

B1	 Employment
B2	 Occupational Health and 

Safety
B3	 Development and Training
B4	 Labour Standards

C1	 Supply Chain Management
C2	 Intellectual Property
C3	 Data Protection
C4	 Customer Service
C5	 Product/Service Quality
C6	 Anti-corruption
C7	 Community Investment
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According to the assessment, the five most material topics to the Group are therefore,

1.	 Occupational Health and Safety

2.	 Data Protection

3.	 Employment

4.	 Community Investment

5.	 Labour Standards

The Group aims to keep close communication with its stakeholders for the identified aspects and continues 
to improve its ESG performance. The Group also hopes to have better management on ESG-related risks for 
future business development. In alignment with the Group’s vision on sustainability, the business will continue 
to operate with high ethical standards and provide sustainable returns to stakeholders.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach and performance. Stakeholders can give 
their suggestions or share their views with us via email to info@kos-intl.com.

A.	 ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.	 Emissions

Due to the nature of business, the Group’s operations are office based and their related 
environmental impact was very minimal. The Group did not note any cases of material non-
compliance relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharge into water and land, and 
the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste as required by the applicable laws and 
regulations.

A1.1.	 Air Emissions

During the Reporting Period, business operations of the Group did not result in the 
consumption of any natural gas, petrol, or diesel. As such, there were no nitrogen 
oxides (“NOx”), sulphur oxides (“SOx”), or particulate matters (“PM”) emissions during the 
Reporting Period.
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A1.2.	 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the Reporting Period, 10.74 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO2e”) 
greenhouse gases (“GHG”, mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide) were 
emitted from the Group’s operations. The Company’s GHG emissions are generated from 
electricity consumption during operation, landfill, paper consumption, and emissions from 
air travel of employees for business trips. The overall intensity was 2.21 kgCO2e per m2 of 
total area, or 37.41 kgCO2e per employee.

Scope of GHG Emission Sources Emission Total Emission

(in tCO2e) (in %)

Scope 1 N/A 0.00 0.00
Direct Emissions
Scope 2 Purchased Electricity 9.79 91.17
Energy Indirect Emission
Scope 3 Paper Waste Disposal 0.84 8.83
Other Indirect Emissions

Business Air Travels 0.11  

Total 10.74 100.00
    

Note:	 Emission factors were made reference to Appendix 20 of the Listing Rules and their referred 
documentation as set out by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, unless stated 
otherwise.
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A1.3. 	Hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, daily business operations of the Group did not generate any 
significant amounts of hazardous waste. Please see below for a list of hazardous waste 
generated by the Group during the Reporting Period.

Hazardous waste generated during the Reporting Period
Types of Hazardous Wastes Waste Generated

MacBook 2 laptops (2.8kg)
Printing Toner 10 cartridges (5.0kg)

  

The overall intensity of hazardous waste generated was 1.60g per m2 of total area, or 
27.18g per employee.

A1.4.	 Non-hazardous Waste

The Group recognises that its business operations had generated non-hazardous waste, 
which mainly consisted of general office waste such as plastic bags for rubbish bins, paper 
cups, paper towels, etc. However, since the amount of non-hazardous waste generated 
was insignificant, the Group had not kept records of the disposal of such items during the 
Reporting Period.

A1.5. 	Emissions Mitigation Initiatives and Targets

The Group’s operations resulted in insignificant emissions. The main source of emission 
was electricity consumption and paper waste from daily office operations. Please refer to 
Section 2.3 for electricity-saving measures and Section A1.6 for paper-saving measures 
that shall mitigate emissions.

In the Reporting Period, the Group has set annual targets for GHG emissions, and the 
Group aims to achieve a 10% reduction in overall emissions intensity in 10 years, or by 
2031.
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A1.6.	 Waste Reduction Initiatives and Targets

The Group understands the importance of good waste management practices and strictly 
abides by waste disposal related rules and regulations.

The Group generated most of its hazardous waste from disposal of computer hardware 
waste, and these wastes were collected by professional third-party waste-handlers 
for recycling, reuse, or further processing. For example, the 2 MacBooks which were 
disposed during the Reporting Period were handed to the Apple Store for recycling.

Non-hazardous waste from the Group is collected and handled by office building 
management. Paper is used for daily office operations such as documents printing. Paper 
saving initiatives on recycling paper are encouraged among employees to reduce paper 
waste disposal at landfills, as well as adopting double-sided printing and printing with 
single-sided used paper for non-formal and non-confidential documents. The Group also 
encourages using electronic document for document issuance and notification, and using 
E-fax to promote a paperless office environment.

In the Reporting Period, the Group has set annual targets for the solid waste discharge of 
the Group, which were mainly focused on reducing waste discharge. The Group aims to 
achieve a 10% reduction in overall waste generation in 10 years, or by 2031.

A2. 	 Use of Resources

The Group has not established policies on the efficient use of resources. Nevertheless, the Group 
is committed to protecting the environment by enhancing operational efficiency to reduce energy 
and water consumption.

A2.1.	 Energy Consumption

A total of 26,459 kWh of energy was consumed by the Group for its operations during the 
Reporting Period, which consisted of electricity for powering lighting, air-conditioning and 
other equipment of the Group necessary for its daily operations. However, please note 
that electricity consumption data is only available for Hong Kong office. The Macau office 
is a virtual office space, while the Shenzhen and Guangzhou offices are coworking spaces 
shared with other companies, so individual electricity consumption data is not available for 
these offices. The intensity was 5.44 kWh of electricity per m2 of total area, or 92.19 kWh 
of electricity per employee.
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A2.2.	 Water Consumption

Due to the nature of business, water consumption of the Group during the Reporting 
Period is minimal. The majority of the water supply facilities are provided and managed by 
property managers on the Group’s rented premises, and the usage have been included in 
the management fees. As such, water consumption data is not available for Hong Kong, 
Macau, Shenzhen, and Guangzhou offices.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no issue in sourcing water that is fit for 
purpose.

A2.3.	 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives and Targets

To reduce electricity consumption, employees are reminded to turn off office lights, 
computers, printers, and air conditioners when leaving office or whenever they are not in 
use. In addition, the Group also plans on gradually replacing older electronic equipment 
with more efficient ones.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has set annual targets to reduce its electricity and 
energy consumption during operation and shall strive to keep on improving consumption 
efficiency. The Group aims to achieve a 10% reduction in overall energy use intensity in 10 
years, or by 2031.

A2.4.	 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group abides by the rules and regulations in relation to water pollution control, and 
the Group has had no problem in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. While the Group 
has not set any targets for water consumption reduction due to its minimal impacts, the 
Group nonetheless promotes reasonable water use initiatives and water saving measures 
among its employees.

A2.5.	 Packaging Materials

The Group’s operations during the Reporting Period did not involve any regular use of 
packaging materials.
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A3.	 The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to conducting its business responsibly, ensuring that its business 
does not contribute to significant adverse impact on the environment and society while bringing 
sustainable growth and profit.

A3.1. 	Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

While the Group’s business has no direct or significant impact on the environment and 
natural resources, the Group is committed to reducing its consumption of resources and 
minimising its use of business travel.

A4.	 Climate Change

Climate change poses a huge threat to all businesses, and that of the Group’s is not an 
exception. The Group recognises that extreme weather events may negatively impact daily 
operations and has accordingly prepared contingency plans for these situations. The Group has 
strictly followed all environmental-related rules and guidance from local and national authorities. 
However, the Group has yet to identify any opportunities which may arise from climate change.
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B.	 SOCIAL

1.	 Employment and Labour Practices

B1. 	 Employment

The Group has complied strictly with the relevant laws and regulations to ensure 
employees’ interests are protected. See below for a list of employment laws and 
regulations of the respective regions the Group operate in.

Mainland China Hong Kong Macau

•	 Labour Law
•	 Labour Contract Law
•	 Regulations on Paid 

Annual Leave for 
Employees 

•	 Law on the Protection 
of Women’s Rights 
and Interests 

•	 Special Rules on the 
Labour Protection of 
Female Employees

•	 Employment 
Ordinance (Cap. 57)

•	 Inland Revenue 
Ordinance (Cap. 112)

•	 Sex Discrimination 
Ordinance (Cap. 480)

•	 Mandatory Provident 
Fund Schemes 
Ordinance (Cap. 485)

•	 Personal Data 
(Privacy) Ordinance 
(Cap. 486)

•	 Disability 
Discrimination 
Ordinance (Cap. 487)

•	 Family Status 
Discrimination 
Ordinance (Cap. 527)

•	 Race Discrimination 
Ordinance (Cap. 602)

•	 Minimum Wage 
Ordinance (Cap. 608)

•	 Labour Relations Law
•	 Framework Law on 

Employment Policy 
and Worker’s Rights

•	 Regulation on 
Prohibition of Illegal 
Work

•	 Minimum wage for 
employees (Law No. 
5/2020)

   

In addition, the Group has formulated an employee handbook to facilitate the building 
of talent teams and strive to create an equal, inclusive, healthy, and safe working 
environment. The employee handbook clearly lays out human resource management 
policies, which include equal employment, attendance management, remuneration and 
benefits, recruitment and promotion, health and safety, performance assessment, code 
of conduct, etc., so as to keep employees aware of the Company’s management basis 
and their own interests. The Group did not note any cases of material non-compliance in 
relation to employment during the Reporting Period.
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B1.1.	 Employment Figures

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 287 employees across its 
offices in Hong Kong, Macau, Shenzhen, and Guangzhou. See below for the detail 
breakdown of the workforce.

Total Workforce as of 31 December 2021

By Employment Type
Full-time 43.90%
Part-time 56.10%

By Gender
Female 67.25%
Male 32.75%

By Employee Category
Senior Management 5.23%
Middle Management 5.23%
Frontline and Other Employees 89.55%

By Age Group
18–25 38.33%
26–35 37.98%
36–45 15.33%
46–55 4.53%
56 or above 3.83%

By Geographical Location
Hong Kong 80.84%
Macau 4.53%
Mainland China 14.63%
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B1.2.	 Turnover Figures

A total of 182 employees left the Group during the Reporting Period, which gave 
a turnover rate of 63.41%.1 The Group regularly reviews salary remuneration and 
benefits to retain talents and stay attractive and competitive in the market. See 
below for the detail breakdown of turnover rate by employee group.

Turnover Rate as of 31 December 2021

By Employment Type
Full-time 32.54%
Part-time 87.58%

By Gender
Female 58.03%
Male 74.47%

By Employee Category
Senior Management 20.00%
Middle Management 13.33%
Frontline and Other Employees 68.87%

By Age Group
18–25 71.82%
26–35 62.39%
36–45 56.82%
46–55 46.15%
56 or above 36.36%

By Geographical Location
Hong Kong 72.84%
Macau 15.38%
Mainland China 26.19%

  

1	 Figure excludes employees who worked with the Group for less than or equal to 60 
days.
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B1.3.	 Employee Recruitment, Compensation and Benefits

The Group complies strictly with all applicable laws and regulations in relation 
to recruitments, pursuant to which the Group is to select, recruit and promote 
its employees at all levels in a fair and open manner based on their knowledge, 
integrity, ability and experience in either public recruitment or internal promotion. 
When an employee presents their resignation, the human resources department 
will arrange an interview with them to understand their motives and identify issues 
in relation to management and employee turnover rates.

There were no major changes in policies relating to compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, 
diversity and anti-discrimination during the Reporting Period. In additions, during 
the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of any violation cases relating 
to compensation, recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays, equal 
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare that have 
a significant impact on the operations of the Company.

The Group abides by all applicable employment and labour related laws of Hong 
Kong, Macau, and Mainland China. The Group’s employees are remunerated in 
accordance with their performance, qualification, work experience and prevailing 
industry practice. In addition to a fixed salary, commission-based bonuses are 
offered to consultants whose sales figures exceed a certain level to attract and 
retain eligible employees to contribute to the Group. The Seconded Staff have been 
remunerated in accordance with their contracts with the Group and the relevant 
laws and regulations in Hong Kong or Macau.

Various types of leave, including annual leaves, sick leaves, maternity leaves, 
paternity leaves and jury services leave, are also provided. The Group safeguards 
employees’ entitlement to statutory benefits. The Group participates in the 
mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) for employees, including Internal Staff and 
Seconded Staff, in accordance with the MPF in Hong Kong, the Social Security 
Regime in Macau, and the state-managed retirement benefit scheme managed 
by the PRC government, respectively, and have paid the relevant contributions 
accordingly. The Group has also maintained employees’ compensation insurance 
for all our employees.

There were no major changes in policies relating to compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, 
diversity and anti-discrimination during the Reporting Period.
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B1.4.	 Employee Communication

The Group treasures employees as its valuable assets. Employees are encouraged 
to provide their opinions directly to the directors and the chief executive officer of 
the Company by email. In addition, the Group arranges catch up meeting with the 
chief executive officer and team head by weekly and also arranges month-ended 
meeting for all employees in order to let the employees to provide their opinions to 
the top management. To strengthen and upgrade employees’ qualifications, the 
Group provides appropriate appraisals to employees in trainings and development 
activities. It also enhances employees’ sense of satisfaction through presentation of 
awards.

Affected by the pandemic of coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), the Group 
could not hold much internal activities during the Reporting Period, but the following 
activities were still organised to enhance employees’ sense of belonging:

•	 Chinese New Year lunch;

•	 Lunch/Dinner meeting with employees;

•	 Kick-off meeting and team building activities;

•	 Mid-Autumn Festival celebration;

•	 Monthly birthday celebration; and

•	 Christmas Party

B1.5.	 Equal Opportunity and Anti-Discrimination

The Group attaches particular importance to equal employment opportunities 
and comply strictly with anti-discrimination laws. In support of equal employment 
opportunities, the Group adopts fair and open recruitment mechanism with all 
positions being openly recruited regardless of age, gender, race, nationality, 
religion, marital status or disability.
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B2.	 Employee Health and Safety

The Group ensures that safety is placed at the top priority in its operation, and is 
maintained as a critical component in its workplace culture. It constantly improves safety 
performances of its different business areas, in order to provide a safe and healthy 
environment to employees. During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with 
occupational health related laws and regulations to avoid any health risks from being 
imposed onto its employees. See below for a list of occupational health related laws and 
regulations of the respective regions the Group operate in.

Mainland China Hong Kong Macau

•	 Labour Law
•	 Labour Contract Law 
•	 PRC Law on 

The Prevention 
and Control of 
Occupational 
Diseases

•	 Employees’ 
Compensation 
Ordinance (Cap. 282)

•	 Occupational Safety 
and Health Ordinance 
(Cap. 509)

•	 Legal Regime on 
Compensation for 
Damage Arising from 
Work Accidents 
and Occupational 
Diseases

•	 Convention 
concerning 
Occupational Safety 
and Health and the 
Working Environment   

There were no major changes in management practice in relation to occupational health 
and safety during the Reporting Period.

COVID-19 Measures

When COVID-19 broke out, the Group was highly cautious of the most up-to-date 
situations as employees’ health and safety is the Group’s priority. The Group has taken 
lead in setting up preventive measures and arrangements for employees, some practices 
include:

•	 Adopting home officing measures as appropriate;

•	 Strengthening health surveillance measures, such as measuring body temperatures 
of employees, clients, and visitors;

•	 Performing deep-cleaning of office;

•	 Setting up emergency response groups to keep up to date with COVID-19 
developments;
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•	 Encouraging COVID-19 vaccinations among employees by providing a day of 
vaccination leave for each vaccination dose received; and

•	 Sourcing and providing anti-virus supplies, such as surgical masks and sanitisers.

B2.1.	 Work-related Fatalities and Injury

Occupational Health and Safety Data in 2021

Work related fatality 0
Fatality rate 0%
Work injury cases >3 days 0
Work injury cases ≤3 days 0
Lost days due to work injury 0

  

Occupational Health and Safety Data in 2020

Work related fatality 0
  

Occupational Health and Safety Data in 2019

Work related fatality 0
  

Employees involved in work-related injuries shall inform their Department Heads 
or Human Resources Department within 24 hours after the accident, and seek 
medical consultation in nearby hospitals or clinics. Within 48 hours after the injured 
employees obtained the sick leave certificates, Human Resources Department shall 
complete and submit the work injury report to the insurance company for related 
compensation.

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not receive any complaints or 
lawsuits regarding violations of health and safety-related laws, and there was no 
work-related death in the past three years.



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

61KOS INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED   Annual Report 2021

B3.	 Development and Training

The Group values its employees as human capital and invest resources to educate and 
maintain their standards so that they can make a greater contribution to its success. The 
chief executive officer of the Group is responsible for providing training and developments 
to its employees.

Orientation programmes is provided for new Internal Staff to familiarise them with the 
Group’s daily operation and information technology systems. The Group also provides 
appropriate on-the-job training for Internal Staff to enhance their capability.

During the Reporting Period, the Group organised in-house training workshops to the staff 
to improve their performance effectiveness.

During the Reporting Period, 87 employees, or 30.31% of all employees, received training 
as arranged by the Group, and the average training hours that each employee received 
was 0.67 hours. The percentage and average training hours per gender and employee 
category during the Reporting Period are as follows:

Percentage
Average 

Training Hours

By Gender
Female 29.53% 0.69 hrs
Male 31.91% 0.62 hrs

By Employee Category
Senior Management 93.33% 1.73 hrs
Middle Management 93.33% 1.73 hrs
Frontline and Other Employees 22.96% 0.54 hrs

   



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

62 KOS INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED   Annual Report 2021

B4. 	 Labour Standards

The Group believes in nurturing and developing top talents regardless of race, gender, 
age, religious belief, pregnancy, marital status, family status or disability.

The recruitment of the Group also complies strictly with the local laws and conduct. 
Personal data collected during the process will be used to assist in the selection of 
suitable candidates and to conduct interviews and verification of personal data. The Group 
ensures that identity documents and relevant certificates are carefully checked before 
interview and employment. Applicants are required to sign a declaration for provision of 
true and correct information. Employees can be dismissed for any frauds.

The Group has strictly abided by all labour standard laws and regulations to protect 
children and prevent child labouring. See below for a list of labour standard related laws 
and regulations of the respective regions the Group operate in.

Mainland China Hong Kong Macau

•	 PRC Law on 
Protection of Minors

•	 The Employment 
of Children 
Regulations under 
the Employment 
Ordinance (Cap. 57)

•	 Convention 
concerning the 
Prohibition and 
Immediate Action for 
the Elimination of the 
Worst Forms of Child 
Labour

   

There was no child nor forced labour in the Group’s operation during the Reporting 
Period. In addition, the Group conducts regular checking to ensure that there is no child 
labour nor forced labour in its operations.
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2.	 Operating Practices

B5. 	 Supply Chain Management

Due to the nature of business, the Group had had not engaged with any long-term key 
suppliers during the Reporting Period. Furthermore, the Group had not engaged any 
subcontractors to provide human resources services to any of its clients. The Group 
procures equipment and IT system support and maintenance services from vendors for its 
business operation, however there are no specific procedures implemented to minimise 
environmental or social risks, nor any internal policies on selecting suppliers with better 
environmental and social performance.

B6.	 Product Responsibility

In terms of regulating product promotion and responsible sales, the Group strictly abides 
by the relevant laws and regulations. See below for a list of relevant laws and regulations 
of the respective regions the Group operate in.

Mainland China Hong Kong Macau

•	 Criminal Law
•	 Advertising Law
•	 Cyber Security Law
•	 Provisions on 

Protecting 
the Personal 
Information of 
Telecommunications 
and Internet Users

•	 Personal Data 
(Privacy) Ordinance 
(Cap. 486)

•	 Office of the Privacy 
Commission for 
Personal Data, Hong 
Kong 

•	 Trade Marks 
Ordinance (Cap. 559)

•	 Patents Ordinance 
(Cap. 514)

•	 Copyright Ordinance 
(Cap. 528)

•	 Trade Secrets Act
•	 Legal Regime of 

Industrial Property
•	 Trademark Act
•	 Patent Act
•	 Republication of the 

Regime of Copyright 
and Related Rights

•	 Personal Data 
Protection Act

   

In terms of the health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters and remedies 
of the products and services provided, there was no material non-compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group during 
the Reporting Period. In addition, there had been no products sold or shipped subject to 
recalls for safety and health reasons during the Reporting Period.
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B6.1. 	 Intellectual Property Rights

Any assets of the Group, including materials and information for official purposes, 
shall not be taken or copied for personal purposes without authorisation. Such 
violation is an offence under the laws of Hong Kong and Macau, offender will 
be subject to disciplinary action or prosecution. The Group does not allow any 
infringement of its assets and intellectual property rights, and will take appropriate 
disciplinary actions against offenders.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any dispute or 
infringement by (i) the Group of any intellectual property rights owned by third 
parties; or (ii) any third parties of any intellectual property rights owned or being 
applied by the Group.

B6.2. 	Quality Assurance

As a human resources services provider, the key service responsibilities of the 
Group are on providing high quality human resources services and privacy matters 
of our clients and candidates. Emphasis is therefore placed on recruiting and 
retaining skillful, knowledgeable, and experienced consultants, monitoring service 
quality and staff training.

During the recruitment process of our consultants, the Group looks for personnel 
who have good communication skills as it is important to effectively connect with 
its clients and candidates and to maintain long-term business relationships. When 
the Group is recruiting Seconded Staff, it will look into the skills and/or professional 
qualifications required for the positions which clients are looking for.

The Group provides after-sales services for both recruitment services and 
secondment, and payroll services. The Group generally provides replacement 
for the placed candidates under certain circumstances for recruitment services 
and may terminate the relevant Seconded Staff if their performance is below the 
required standard. The Group will also meet with clients and candidates on a 
regular basis to build up good relationships and to collect feedbacks on services 
provided. The Group believes that this will allow it to maintain its high quality of 
services provided and gain market intelligence to keep its staff abreast to the latest 
developments in the human resources services industry.

During the Reporting Period, there were no material complaints made against us 
and our internal and Seconded Staff by our clients. The Group has complied with 
relevant laws and regulations in relation to product and service liabilities.
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B6.3.	 Confidential Information, Data Protection, and Privacy

As a human resources services provider, the Group has in its possession a 
substantial amount of personal data related to individual candidates. The Group’s 
software system also stores information relating to performance assessment of 
such candidates by the Group and its clients. Pursuant to the Personal Data (Privacy) 
Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group is obliged to keep 
all such data confidential. Therefore, the Group has implemented internal control 
measures to safeguard the security and confidentiality of our candidate database as 
follows:

(a)	 Access to documents: Access to the information and candidate database 
is restricted on a stringent need-to-know basis by maintaining policies 
specifying the level and extent of documentation required in our key 
business activities and for general use. Approval from the Group’s 
management team shall be obtained before any external requests to review 
the documents and any release of the documents are executed. There are 
also security measures in place to monitor the use of information internally 
by staff, including:

i.	 implementing security policy to limit certain staff from accessing 
company information away from office and/or out of working hours;

ii.	 keeping detailed records of staff’s online activities and behaviours 
(including the time and date of each login, browser used for each 
session, number of page hits, actions the staff performed, candidates 
and/or clients the staff viewed, notes taken, messages sent and 
received) which enables the Group to closely and continuously 
monitor our staff’s activities and behaviours to see if there are any 
abnormal activities such as excessive client and/or candidate view, 
access of candidate and/or client that falls outside of the staff’s area 
of focus or scope of work; and

iii.	 configuring the IT and email systems so that mass data export is 
only available to system administrators (i.e. executive Directors of the 
Group).

(b)	 Storage of electronic data: The majority of personal data collected are 
uploaded and stored in a server operated by a contracted software 
service provider. They have implemented backup policies to safeguard the 
information in any unexpected situation.
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(c)	 System security: Directors of the Group consider that there are robust 
security measures in place to ensure security in every process of operation 
to prevent security system breaches. These measures include adopting the 
latest technologies to store and control data collected centrally in the cloud 
to prevent data from being stored locally on staff workstations or local file 
server which may lead to information leakage, requiring confidential data 
accessed by authorised staff through designated user’s accounts and 
passwords, disabling the alteration and/or reviewing of data by general staff, 
and encrypting backup data. Hackers are prevented from attacking the 
candidate database by, among others, utilising certified recruitment software 
with functions of user authentication, data back up and segregation, 
operating system and database security to enhance protection against cyber 
attacks, implementing firewall protecting the internal network from intrusion, 
installing anti-virus software on servers and workstations as well as applying 
security patches and updates of operating systems. During the Reporting 
Period, the Group had not experienced any incidents relating to hackers 
attacking its candidate database.

(d)	 Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations: Employees are required 
to adhere to the obligations and responsibilities set out in the Personal Data 
(Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and all relevant 
laws and regulations in relation to the data privacy protection.

The Group complies with all applicable laws regarding confidential information and 
data protection. During the Reporting Period, the Company received no complaints 
or litigations relating to data protection and privacy protection, there were no 
incidents and complaints concerning breaches of customer privacy or losses of 
customer data for the Group.

B7.	  Anti-corruption

Conflict of interest exists when personal interest is in contrary or in contradiction with the 
Group’s interest. It includes the use of a person’s official position to benefit himself, his 
family, relatives or friends or any person to whom he owes a favour or is obliged in any 
way. The Group is committed to ensuring its business does not involve in any conflict 
of interest. Its code of conduct requires staff to avoid unapproved conflict of interest 
situations. Approval shall be obtained from the Board.
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Any bribery and corruption activities are also prohibited pursuant to the Prevention of 
Bribery Ordinance of the Laws of Hong Kong, and as stated in the Group’s code of 
conduct. Whistleblowing policy is established to provide clear guidelines on reporting 
misconduct and malpractice, with channels for all shareholders, customers, suppliers 
and Internal Staff to raise concerns under the policy. When a suspicious case is received, 
the Group undergoes investigation procedures with secured protection on complainant’s 
confidentiality. If complainant’s identity is exposed, whoever retaliates against the 
complainant will be subject to disciplinary actions. All concerns will be handled impartially 
and effectively, and will be reported to relevant enforcement authorities when necessary.

In order to enhance the anti-corruption awareness and level of employees, the Group 
plans on conducting anti-corruption training to its directors and employees in 2022. Details 
of anti-corruption training shall be disclosed in the Report for the following Reporting 
Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not have any lawsuits related to corruption, 
nor violated relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations 
of the Company. There was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices brought 
against the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.

B8.	 Community Investment

The awareness of corporate social responsibility has been increasing in the market. The 
Group realises the importance of different stakeholders’ expectations. In achieving long 
term, stable and healthy business prosperity and growth, the Group strives to balance the 
interests between stakeholders and is committed to improve the community’s wellbeing.

In addition, the Group attaches great importance to social public welfare activities, and 
has contributed to activities and organisations that are beneficial to the community. During 
the Reporting Period, the Group has participated in and sponsored various communal 
activities. See below for a list of significant activities by the Group during the Reporting 
Period:

Date Beneficiary Details

2021 InspiringHK Sports Foundation HKD$130,000 Sponsorship of 
WELL DUNK! Public Estate 
Basketball League & Training 
Programme 2021–2022

13 September 2021 Food Angel by Bo Charity 
Foundation, Low-income 
family in Shum Shui Po

450 boxes of mooncake

8 December 2021 Hong Kong Institute of 
Maternal & Child Care

50 sets of sanitizing and cleansing 
sprays, antibacterial wet wipes, 
and face masks
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Furthermore, the Group has also engaged in professional knowledge sharing through 
participating in conferences, webinars, and other activities during the Reporting Period, 
which allowed the Group to connect and share industrial trends and knowledge with other 
parties. These included:

•	 Collaboration webinar on team building with JustWork Hong Kong on 22 January 
2021;

•	 Webinar on virtual presentation and engagement skills on 12 July 2021;

•	 Serving as panellist at the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
Conference 2021 on 2 October 2021;

•	 Serving as guest speakers at Prudential Hong Kong’s Internship Graduation 
Programme 2021 on 29 October 2021;

•	 Collaboration webinar on talent management and development with CPA Australia 
on 4 November 2021;

•	 Workshop on employee engagement on 12 November 2021; and

•	 Hosting roundtable discussions on digital transformation of companies in 
collaboration with Kornerstone and CxO forum on 2 December 2021.

The Group will continue to fulfil its corporate responsibilities and serve the community to 
the best of its abilities. The Group will also strive to achieve better allocation of resources 
in the perspective of providing assistance to the community in need and pursuing 
environmental protection, as well as contributing to the sustainable development of 
society.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KOS INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KOS International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 133, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been 
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS – continued

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of accounts 
receivables

We identified the impairment assessment of 
accounts receivables as a key audit matter due to the 
significance of accounts receivables to the Group’s 
consolidated financial position and the involvement 
of subjective judgement and management estimates 
in evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of 
the Group’s accounts receivables at the end of the 
reporting period.

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated 
financial statements, as at 31 December 2021, 
the Group’s net accounts receivables amounting 
to HK$17,177,000 (2020: HK$8,608,000) and out 
of these accounts receivables of HK$5,520,000 
(2020: HK$4,171,000) and HK$728,000 (2020: 
HK$878,000) were past due and past due over 90 
days, respectively.

As disclosed in note 4 and note 16 to the 
consolidated financial statements, accounts 
receivables are assessed for ECL individually. The 
Group assessed credit risk of its individual customers 
with reference to external credit rating, the Group’s 
observed default rates and supportable forward-
looking information that is available to the directors 
of the Company without undue cost or effort, and 
are updated if considered to be required.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment 
assessment of accounts receivables included:

•	 Obtaining an understanding on the key 
controls over credit risk assessment and how 
management estimates the loss allowance for 
accounts receivables;

•	 Assessing the appropriateness of the loss 
allowance calculation methodology used by the 
management;

•	 Testing the integrity of information used by 
management in assessing the credit risk of 
individual customers, on a sample basis, 
by checking the external credit rating of the 
customers to independence source and 
comparing historical default rates to the actual 
losses recorded during the current financial 
year; and

•	 Challenging management’s basis and 
judgement in concluding accounts receivables 
which were past due over 90 days or more, 
and were not considered as in default, on a 
sample basis, with reference to the external 
credit rating, historical default rates and 
forward-looking information.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH 
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and 
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – continued

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Lau, Ming Tak Simeon.

D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lau, Ming Tak Simeon
Practising Certificate Number: P07579

Hong Kong, 23 March 2022
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 2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 108,948 65,285
Other income 6 272 5,989
Other gains and losses 7 37 –
Staff costs (77,698) (57,219)
Other expenses and losses (16,226) (14,893)
Impairment losses under expected  

credit loss (“ECL”) model, net of reversal (327) (176)
Finance costs 8 (170) (143)  

Profit (loss) before taxation 9 14,836 (1,157)
Income tax expense 10 (2,032) (460)  

Profit (loss) for the year 12,804 (1,617)
  

Other comprehensive income
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to  

profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on  
translation of a foreign operation 148 165  

Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year 12,952 (1,452)
  

Earnings (loss) per share — basic and diluted  
(Hong Kong cent) 13 1.60 (0.20)
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 2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 2,543 2,094
Right-of-use asset 15 5,904 1,443
Rental deposit 16 674 –
Equity instrument at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 17 1,556 –  

10,677 3,537  

Current assets
Accounts and other receivables 16 19,747 11,174
Tax recoverable – 1,205
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(“FVTPL”) 18 1,608 –
Pledged bank deposit 19 1,200 –
Bank balances and cash 19 42,767 32,567  

65,322 44,946  

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 20 9,748 6,352
Contract liability 20 – 1,100
Lease liability 21 1,971 1,596
Taxation payable 1,794 –
Bank overdraft 19 5,965 –  

19,478 9,048  

Net current assets 45,844 35,898  

Non-current liabilities
Lease liability 21 3,724 –
Deferred tax liability 22 305 120
Provision for reinstatement cost 23 225 –  

4,254 120  

Net assets 52,267 39,315
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 24 8,000 8,000
Reserves 44,267 31,315  

Total equity 52,267 39,315
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 133 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 23 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

  
Chan Ka On Eddie Chan Ka Shing Jackson

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Share

capital
Share

premium
Special
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Translation
reserve

(Accumulated 
losses) 

retained 
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)

At 1 January 2020 8,000 39,738 49 – (73) (6,947) 40,767
Loss for the year – – – – – (1,617) (1,617)
Exchange differences arising on translation of  

foreign operations – – – – 165 – 165       

Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year – – – – 165 (1,617) (1,452)       

At 31 December 2020 8,000 39,738 49 – 92 (8,564) 39,315       

Profit for the year – – – – – 12,804 12,804
Transfer to statutory reserve – – – 10 – (10) –
Exchange differences arising on translation of  

foreign operations – – – – 148 – 148       

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 10 148 12,794 12,952       

At 31 December 2021 8,000 39,738 49 10 240 4,230 52,267
        

Note:	 The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from profit after taxation of the subsidiaries established 
in the Mainland of People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) in accordance with the relevant PRC laws until the PRC 
statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the respective subsidiaries. The statutory reserve can be 
applied either in setting off the accumulated losses or increasing capital.
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 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities
Profit (loss) before taxation 14,836 (1,157)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,532 1,529
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 2,181 2,164
Written-off of property, plant and equipment 3 –
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 170 –
Net realised gain in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL (207) –
Interest income (22) (62)
Finance costs 170 143
Net impairment loss recognised under ECL 327 176  

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 18,990 2,793
(Increase) decrease in accounts and other receivables (9,579) 548
Increase in other payables and accruals 3,381 258
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities (1,100) 1,100  

Cash generated from operations 11,692 4,699
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded 1,212 639
Taxation in other jurisdictions paid (60) –  

Net cash generated from operating activities 12,844 5,338  

Investing activities
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL (2,987) –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,977) (376)
Purchase of equity instrument at FVTOCI (1,556) –
Payment for rental deposits (3) –
Interest received 22 62
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVTPL 1,416 –  

Net cash used in investing activities (5,085) (314)  

Financing activities
Repayment of lease liability (2,236) (2,297)
Placement of pledged bank deposit (1,200) –
Interest paid (170) (143)  

Cash used in financing activities (3,606) (2,440)  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,153 2,584
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 32,567 29,938
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes 82 45  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year,  
represented by 36,802 32,567  

Bank balance and cash 42,767 32,567
Bank overdraft (5,965) –  

36,802 32,567
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1.	 GENERAL

KOS International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with 
limited liability under the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of 
Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”) on 12 October 2018 (the “Listing”). The addresses of the registered office and the principal 
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to the annual 
report.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is KJE Limited, a company incorporated in 
the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling parties of the Company are Mr. Chan Ka Kin Kevin (“Mr. 
Kevin Chan”), Mr. Chan Ka On Eddie (“Mr. Eddie Chan”), Mr. Chan Ka Shing Jackson (“Mr. Jackson 
Chan”) and Mr. Chow Ka Wai Raymond (“Mr. Raymond Chow”).

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in providing 
recruitment services and secondment and payroll services in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland of 
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Company and its subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the 
functional currency of the Company.

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA 
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, 

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (the 
“Committee”) of the International Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the 
costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the 
net realisable value of inventories.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

79KOS INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED   Annual Report 2021

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) – continued

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year – continued

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had 
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years 
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions and 
early application of Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 
June 2021

The Group has applied the Amendment to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions” for the first 
time and early applied the Amendment to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions” beyond 
30 June 2021 in the current year retrospectively. The amendments introduce a new practical expedient 
for lessees to elect not to assess whether a Covid-19-related rent concession is a lease modification. 
The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the 
Covid-19 pandemic that meets all of the following conditions:

•	 the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially 
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

•	 any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022; 
and

•	 there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting from rent 
concessions the same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”) 
if the changes were not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for 
as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or 
waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event 
occurs.

The application of these amendments has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and 
performance in the current and prior years as the Group opted not to apply the practical expedient, but 
applied the applicable requirements of HKFRS 16 to account for rent concessions provided by certain 
lessors.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) – continued

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year – continued

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 
16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial statements as none of the relevant 
contracts has been transitioned to the relevant replacement rates during the year. The Group will apply 
the practical expedient in relation to the changes in contractual cash flows resulting from the interest 
rate benchmark reform for bank loans measured at amortised cost. Additional disclosures as required 
by HKFRS 7 are set out in note 27.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued 
but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments3

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework2

Amendments to HKFRS 10  
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 20211

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and 
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies3

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates3

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transaction3

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended 
Use2

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract2

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–20202

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs 
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by 
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required 
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) 
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in 
the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset 
or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement 
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial statements 
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope 
of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with 
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net 
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

For financial instruments which is transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable 
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated 
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group 
ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

•	 Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

•	 Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

•	 Step 3: Determine the transaction price

•	 Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

•	 Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of 
the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to customers.

Control of the asset may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the asset is transferred 
over time if one of the following criteria is met:

•	 the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance as the Group performs;

•	 the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group 
performs; or

•	 the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the 
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If the control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by 
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, 
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the asset.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for 
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration in due) from the customer.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Revenue recognition – continued

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on output 
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or 
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under 
the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services. 

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in an amount that corresponds 
directly with the value of the Group’s performance completed to date (for example, Secondment and 
payroll services are charged on a monthly basis during the service period based on either (i) an agreed 
percentage of the seconded staff’s monthly recruitment package; or (ii) an agreed fixed amount of 
service fee), the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines 
whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services 
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other 
party (i.e. the Group is an agent). 

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is 
transferred to a customer. 

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good 
or service by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service 
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group 
acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to 
be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other 
party.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset 
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application or arising from business 
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition 
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will 
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Leases – continued

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the 
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of 
the non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when 
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements would not differ 
materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of offices that have a lease 
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease 
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic 
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives 
received; and

•	 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use asset is measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.

Right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and 
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use asset as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included 
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Leases – continued

The Group as a lessee – continued

Lease liability

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the 
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease 
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the 
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

•	 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

•	 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate as at the commencement date;

•	 amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

•	 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; 
and

•	 payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an 
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liability is adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
asset) whenever:

•	 the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase 
option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

•	 the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent review 
in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments 
using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liability as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Leases – continued

The Group as a lessee – continued

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

•	 the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more 
underlying assets; and

•	 the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone 
price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to 
reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease 
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liability by making corresponding adjustments to 
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or 
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified 
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component 
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivables as compensation for expenses or losses 
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future 
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants 
are presented under “other income”.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong, the Social 
Security Fund Contribution in Macau and the state-managed retirement benefit scheme managed by the 
PRC government are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them 
to the contributions. A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the Group 
entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises any related 
restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to 
be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised 
as an expense unless another HKFRSs requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an 
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave 
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value 
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from 
service cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that 
another HKFRSs requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs which are not eligible for capitalisation to qualifying assets are recognised in profit or 
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before 
taxation as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Taxation – continued

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the 
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets 
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part 
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the 
right-of-use asset and the related lease liability, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions 
are attributable to the right-of-use asset or the lease liability.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liability, the Group 
applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary 
differences relating to right-of-use asset and lease liability are assessed on a net basis. Excess of 
depreciation on right-of-use asset over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liability 
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable 
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred 
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Taxation – continued

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group considers whether it is probable 
that the relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use 
by individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes 
are determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that 
the relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is 
reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected value.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asset

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use asset to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can 
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they 
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 
allocation basis can be identified.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use asset, are estimated 
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If such 
indication exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable 
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of 
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asset – continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable 
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of 
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate 
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of 
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis 
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The 
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if 
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would 
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the 
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of 
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production of services, or for administrative purposes 
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets over 
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives and depreciation 
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the 
time value of money is material).

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their original condition, as required by the terms and 
conditions of the lease, are recognised at the date of inception of the lease at the directors’ best estimate 
of the expenditure that would be required to restore the assets, Estimates are regularly reviewed and 
adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for accounts receivables 
arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are 
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of financial assets or financial 
liabilities and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all 
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets

Classification and measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling 
and collecting contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of 
a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an 
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading 
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 
“Business Combinations” applies.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

94 KOS INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED   Annual Report 2021

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Classification and measurement of financial assets – continued

A financial asset is held for trading if:

•	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

•	 on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group 
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at 
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch.

(i)	 Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate 
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on 
the credit impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the 
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(ii)	 Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains 
and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment. 
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity 
investments, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when 
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent 
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other gains and 
losses” line item in profit or loss.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Classification and measurement of financial assets – continued

(iii)	 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or 
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any 
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or 
loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other 
gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) on financial assets 
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (including accounts 
and other receivables, rental deposit, pledged bank deposit and bank balances and cash). The amount 
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime 
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting 
date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors 
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current 
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts receivables. The ECL on these assets are 
assessed individually for all debtors.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Impairment of financial assets – continued

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises 
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant 
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information 
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is 
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external or internal 
credit rating;

•	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the 
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

•	 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

•	 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Significant increase in credit risk – continued

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) 
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) 
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a 
debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment 
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when the instrument is more than 90 days past due 
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude 
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of 
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks 
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to 
the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, 
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the 
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of 
the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting 
their carrying amount, with the exception of accounts receivables where the corresponding adjustment is 
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; or

(b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; or

(c)	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider; or

(d)	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 
or

(e)	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is 
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the 
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial 
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, 
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any 
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or equity 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial 
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including other payables and bank overdraft are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition 
to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation 
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other 
than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s foreign operation are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated 
at the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

4.	 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the 
Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and the future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.

The following is the key assumption concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial years.

Provision of ECL for accounts receivables

The Group uses individual assessment to calculate ECL for the accounts receivables. The provision rates 
are based on external credit ratings considering the individual debtor’s historical default rate, adjusted 
after considering forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue 
costs or effort that are specific to each debtor. At every reporting date, the historical observed default 
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the 
Group’s accounts receivables are disclosed in note 16.
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4.	 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY – continued

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s financial assets, unquoted equity instrument, 
amounting to HK$1,556,000 (2020: nil) is measured at fair value with fair value being determined based 
on significant unobservable inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are required in 
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Whilst the Group considers 
the valuation is the best estimates has resulted in greater market volatility and may affect the investees’ 
businesses, which have led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current 
and prior year. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could result in material adjustments to 
the fair value of the instruments. See note 17 for further disclosures.

5.	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Recruitment services

The Group’s recruitment services are to assist its customers in placing appropriate candidates for 
requested positions. Generally, the Group charges one-off service fees calculated based on an agreed 
percentage of the successfully placed candidate’s monthly basic salary or annual remuneration package 
in the first year of his/her employment (the “Agreed Percentage”). For certain customers, the Group 
charges the service fees based on the fee calculated by the Agreed Percentage or an agreed minimum 
fee, whichever is higher. For certain placement of frontline staff, the Group generally charges a one-
off fixed fee per successful placement. The performance obligations of recruitment services are to find 
appropriate candidates for the requested position. Pursuant to the terms of the recruitment services 
contracts, the Group is obliged to find the appropriate candidates for the requested position. In case 
the candidate resigns or the customer terminates employment in one to three months from the date 
of reporting duty by the candidate, the Group is obliged to find a one-off replacement within one to 
three months from the date when the Group is notified of such termination (the “Replacement Period”). 
In rare circumstances where the Group is unable to find replacement within the Replacement Period, 
the recruitment service fee will be refunded or credited to customer for future recruitment services. For 
the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, such reduction of recruitment service fees and refund 
to customers accounted for an immaterial portion of the recruitment services revenue. Payments are 
generally settled by customers within the credit periods of not more than 60 days offered by the Group 
after the successfully placed candidate’s date of reporting duty.

For recruitment services for which the control of services is transferred at a point in time, revenue is 
recognised when the customer obtains the control of the completed services and the Group has present 
right to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.
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5.	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Secondment and payroll services

The Group’s secondment and payroll services are to second the suitable staff of the Group to its 
customers (the “Seconded Staff”). The performance obligations of secondment and payroll services are 
to second suitable Seconded Staff to its customers.

The Group satisfies the performance obligation by finding suitable Seconded Staff to work at the 
customer’s workplace. Revenue is recognised over time where the customer received and consumed 
the benefits of the secondment and payroll services simultaneously, i.e. find a Seconded Staff, as the 
management of the Group considered the Group has fulfilled its performance obligations throughout 
a period of time and revenue is therefore recorded evenly throughout the service period. The Group 
generally charges the service fee either on a fixed amount per staff on a monthly bases or on a cost plus 
basis. The Group elected to apply the practical expedient by recognising the secondment and payroll 
services revenue in the amount to which the Group has right to invoice. As permitted under HKFRS15, 
the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied contract is not disclosed. Payments are generally settled 
by clients within the credit periods of not more than 60 days from the date of invoices which are issued 
once or twice a month to respective clients.

For secondment and payroll services for which the control of the service is transferred when the Group 
had assigned the seconded staff to the customer over the secondment period, revenue is recognised 
when the customer simultaneously received secondment and payroll services and consumed the 
benefits provided by the Group’s performance. The management of the Group considered the Group as 
a principal given (i) the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the required human resources services 
for its customers, that is, it has the discretion in selecting and assigning a particular staff to be seconded 
to its customer’s workplace pursuant to the customer’s requirements, directing the staff to satisfy the 
specific performance obligation under the secondment arrangement, and also the discretion in selecting 
replacement if necessary; (ii) the Group has inventory risk as the seconded staff remains employee of the 
Group before and after the relevant secondment; and (iii) it has the discretion in establishing the price for 
the relevant services; and as such the management of the Group recognises revenue in gross amount 
of consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the secondment and payroll services 
transferred.

A receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is 
required before payment of that consideration is due.
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5.	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Disaggregation of revenue

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Recruitment services
– Hong Kong 61,767 34,974
– The PRC 17,355 6,383  

79,122 41,357  

Secondment and payroll services
– Hong Kong 26,786 21,176
– Macau 3,040 2,752  

29,826 23,928  

Total 108,948 65,285
   

Segment information

The Group’s operating segment is determined based on information reported to the chief operating 
decision maker of the Group (the executive directors of the Company) for the purpose of resource 
allocation and performance assessment. For management purpose, the Group operates in one business 
unit based on their services, and only has one operating segment, human resource services operation. 
The chief operating decision maker reviews the revenue and results of the Group as a whole without 
further discrete financial information.

Accordingly, no analysis of this single operating and reportable segment is presented.

The majority of Group’s revenue is generated from Hong Kong, and majority of non-current assets are 
located in Hong Kong.
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5.	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group during the year is as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A 17,210 15,716
Customer B 11,467 N/A*

   

*	 Revenue from Customer B does not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2020.

6.	 OTHER INCOME

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividend income from investments in listed securities 9 –
Interest income 22 62
Sundry income 241 11
Government grants (Note) – 5,916  

272 5,989
   

Note:	 For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised government grants HK$5,916,000 in respect 
of COVID-19 related subsidies of which HK$5,705,000 relates to Employment Support Scheme, HK$90,000 
relates to Anti-Epidemic Funds provided by the Hong Kong Government and the remaining relates to 
10-billion-pataca fund granted by the Macau Government.
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7.	 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net realised gain on financial assets at FVTPL 207 –
Net unrealised loss on financial assets at FVTPL (170) –  

37 –
   

8.	 FINANCE COSTS

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on lease liability 111 143
Interest on bank overdraft 57 –
Others 2 –  

170 143
   

9.	 PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) before taxation has been arrived at after  
charging:

Directors’ remuneration (note 11) 6,682 5,021
Salaries and allowance for staff excluding directors 67,158 50,003
Staff welfare 677 278
Retirement benefit schemes contributions for staff  

excluding directors 3,181 1,917  

Total staff costs 77,698 57,219  

Rental expenses in respect of short-term leases 1,254 675
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,532 1,529
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 2,181 2,164
Write-off of property, plant and equipment 3 –
Auditor’s remuneration 800 750
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10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax
– Hong Kong Profits Tax 1,732 –
– The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT”) 121 –  

1,853 –
(Overprovision) underprovision in prior years (6) 340  

1,847 340
Deferred tax expense (note 22) 185 120  

2,032 460
   

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profit is for the year.

Under the two-tiered profits rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will 
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities 
in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at the flat 
rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% 
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable 
profits above HK$2 million.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made for the year ended 31 December 2020 as the Group 
has no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at 12% of the estimated assessable profits exceeding Macao 
Pataca (“MOP”) 600,000 for each of the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. No provision of 
Macau Complementary Tax was made as the subsidiary in Macau has no assessable profit exceeding 
MOP600,000 in both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation 
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% for the year. No provision for EIT is made for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 as the Group has no assessable profit arising in the PRC or the 
assessable profits are wholly absorbed by tax losses brought forward from prior years.
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10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE – continued

According to Guangdong Provincial Tax Service, State Taxation Administration 《財政部稅務總局關於
實施小微企業和個體工商戶所得稅優惠政策的公告》(2021年第12號), on the first RMB1 million annual 
taxable income, the subsidiary would enjoy the deduction of such taxable income to 12.5% at 20% 
enterprise income tax rate; for the annual taxable income exceeding RMB1 million but less than RMB3 
million, the subsidiary would enjoy the deduction of such taxable income to 50% at 20% enterprise 
income tax rate from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2022.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit (loss) before taxation per the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) before taxation 14,836 (1,157)
  

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 2,448 (191)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (8) (960)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 476 50
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised – 1,073
Tax effect of deductible temporary difference not recognised 148 280
Tax effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries operating 

in other jurisdiction (33) (5)
Tax effect of tax exemption under Macau  

Complimentary Tax (35) (46)
(Overprovision) underprovision in respect of prior years (6) 340
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (793) (25)
Tax concession (165) –
Others – (56)  

Income tax expense for the year 2,032 460
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11.	 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
EMPLOYEES

Directors and Chief Executive

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration paid or payable by the entities comprising the Group 
during the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Executive directors
Independent 

non-executive directors
Chief 

executive   

Mr. 
Kevin 
Chan

Mr. 
Eddie 
Chan

Mr. 
Jackson 

Chan

Mr. 
Tong 

Kam Piu
(Note 1)

Mr. 
Poon 

Kai Kin

Mr. 
Wang 

Ho Pang
(Note 2)

Mr. 
Cheung 

Wang Kei 
Wayne

(Note 3)

Dr. 
Lau Kin 

Shing
Charles
(Note 4) Subtotal

Ms. 
Yeung

Shek
Shek

Louisa Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fee – – – 94 120 10 26 110 360 – 360
Other emoluments

– Salaries and other  
benefits 1,144 1,144 1,538 – – – – – 3,826 1,200 5,026

– Performance related  
bonus (Note 5) 726 726 990 – – – – – 2,442 300 2,742

– Retirement benefit scheme 
contributions 18 18 18 – – – – – 54 18 72           

1,888 1,888 2,546 94 120 10 26 110 6,682 1,518 8,200
            

Note 1:	 Mr. Tong Kam Piu resigned as independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from 12 
October 2021.

Note 2:	 Mr. Wang Ho Pang resigned as independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from 1 
February 2021.

Note 3:	 Mr. Cheung Wang Kei Wayne appointed as independent non-executive director of the Company with effect 
from 12 October 2021.

Note 4:	 Dr. Lau Kin Shing Charles appointed as independent non-executive director of the Company with effect 
from 1 February 2021.

Note 5:	 The performance related bonus are determinded by reference to the Group’s operating results, individual 
performance and prevailing market conditions.
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11.	 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
EMPLOYEES – continued

Directors and Chief Executive – continued

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Executive directors
Independent 

non-executive directors
Chief 

executive   

Mr. 
Kevin 
Chan

Mr. 
Eddie 
Chan

Mr. 
Jackson 

Chan

Mr. 
Tong 

Kam Piu

Mr. 
Poon 

Kai Kin

Mr. 
Wang 

Ho Pang Subtotal

Ms. 
Yeung

Shek
Shek

Louisa Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fee – – – 120 120 120 360 – 360
Other emoluments

– Salaries and other 
benefits 1,144 1,144 1,144 – – – 3,432 1,300 4,732

– Performance related 
bonus 294 294 587 – – – 1,175 – 1,175

– Retirement benefit scheme 
contributions 18 18 18 – – – 54 18 72         

1,456 1,456 1,749 120 120 120 5,021 1,318 6,339
          

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the 
management of the affairs as directors of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors 
of the Company.

The chief executive’s emoluments shown above were for her services in connection with the 
management of the affairs as chief executive officer of the Company and the Group.
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11.	 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
EMPLOYEES – continued

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group do not include any directors of the Company for each of 
the reporting period. Details of the remuneration for the year of the five highest paid employees who are 
not directors of the Company are as follows:

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 9,302 7,558
Sign-on bonus – 96
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 106 90  

9,408 7,744
   

The number of the highest paid individuals who are not the directors of the Company whose 
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

 2021 2020
No. of employees No. of employees

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 – 4
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 3 –
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2 1  

5 5
   

Total amount of HK$96,000 was paid to one of the five highest paid individuals of the Group as a sign-
on bonus during the year ended 31 December 2020. No emoluments were paid by the Group to the 
directors or chief executive of the Company or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join 
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for both years. None of the directors 
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.
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12.	 DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been proposed by the directors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 
(2020: nil).

13.	 EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based 
on the following data:

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) for the year 12,804 (1,617)
   

 2021 2020

Number of shares:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 

purpose of the basic earnings (loss) per share 800,000,000 800,000,000
   

No diluted earnings (loss) per share for years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were presented as 
there were no potential ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 
Leasehold 

improvements
Furniture and 

equipment
Office 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 January 2020 3,534 595 940 – 5,069
Additions 108 19 249 – 376
Written off – – (89) – (89)
Exchange realignment – – 4 – 4     

At 31 December 2020 3,642 614 1,104 – 5,360
Additions – 9 236 1,732 1,977
Written off – (5) (2) – (7)
Exchange realignment – – 3 6 9     

At 31 December 2021 3,642 618 1,341 1,738 7,339     

DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2020 1,365 154 307 – 1,826
Provided for the year 1,207 123 199 – 1,529
Eliminated on written off – – (89) – (89)     

At 31 December 2020 2,572 277 417 – 3,266     

Provided for the year 1,070 113 246 103 1,532
Eliminated on written off – (3) (1) – (4)
Exchange realignment – – 1 1 2     

At 31 December 2021 3,642 387 663 104 4,796     

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2021 – 231 678 1,634 2,543

     

At 31 December 2020 1,070 337 687 – 2,094
      

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line method at the 
following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease
Furniture and equipment 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 25%
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15.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET

 Leased office
HK$’000

As at 31 December 2021
Carrying amount 5,904 

As at 31 December 2020
Carrying amount 1,443 

For the year ended 31 December 2021
Depreciation charge 2,181 

For the year ended 31 December 2020
Depreciation charge 2,164

  

 

Year ended 
31 December 

2021

Year ended 
31 December 

2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Expenses related to short-term leases 1,254 675  

Total cash outflow for leases 3,601 3,115
Addition to right-of-use asset 6,642 –

   

The Group leases various offices for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 
year to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different 
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable 
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is 
enforceable. 

The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the short of its estimated useful life 
and the lease term.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the 
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short term lease 
expense disclosed above.
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16.	 ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND RENTAL DEPOSIT

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivables 17,830 9,032
Less: Allowance for ECL (653) (424)  

17,177 8,608
Other receivables

– Prepayments 1,414 1,285
– Rental and utility deposits 1,430 1,121
– Others 400 160  

Total accounts and other receivables 20,421 11,174
Less: Receivables within twelve months shown under  

current assets (19,747) (11,174)  

Rental deposit shown under non-current assets 674 –
   

Generally, the Group allows a credit period of not more than 60 days to its customers.

The following is an ageing analysis of accounts receivables presented based on the revenue recognition 
date at the end of the reporting period.

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 12,074 4,593
31 to 60 days 3,071 2,111
61 to 90 days 907 865
91 to 180 days 1,057 167
Over 180 days 68 872  

17,177 8,608
   

The management of the Group closely monitors the credit quality of accounts receivables and considers 
the debts that are neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit quality. Receivables that are neither 
past due nor impaired related to a wide range of customers for whom there is no history of default.
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16.	 ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND RENTAL DEPOSIT  
– continued

In determining the recoverability of the accounts receivables, the Group monitors any changes in the 
credit quality of the accounts receivables since the credit was granted and up to the end of the reporting 
period. The directors consider that the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on its 
accounts receivables, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s accounts receivables balance are debtors with 
aggregate carrying amount of HK$5,520,000 (2020: HK$4,171,000) which are past due as at the 
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$728,000 (2020: HK$878,000) has been past due over 
90 days or more and is not considered as in default. The directors of the Company are in the view that 
there have been no significant increase in credit risk nor default because of good repayment records for 
those customers and continuous business with the Group.

Impairment assessment on accounts receivables subject to ECL model

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group takes reference to external credit rating of 
its customers and the Group’s historical observed default rates and are adjusted for forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort. The following tables provide information about 
the exposure to credit risk and ECL for accounts receivables which are assessed individually.

2021

 

Gross
carrying
amount

Weighted
average

loss rate
Allowance 

for ECL
HK$’000 HK$’000

Low risk 15,642 3.10% 485
High risk – 1 2,188 7.67% 168   

17,830 653
    

2020

 

Gross
carrying
amount

Weighted
average
loss rate

Allowance 
for ECL

HK$’000 HK$’000

Low risk 5,798 0.69% 40
High risk – 1 3,136 9.12% 286
High risk – 2 98 100% 98   

9,032 424
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16.	 ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND RENTAL DEPOSIT  
– continued

Impairment assessment on accounts receivables subject to ECL model – continued

Quality classification definitions:

Internal
credit rating Description Accounts receivables

“Low risk”: The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 
any past-due amounts; or the counterparty has amounts 
past-due but is continuously settling after due date and with 
continuous business transactions with the Group

Lifetime ECL –  
not credit-impaired

“High risk – 1”: There have been significant increases in credit risk since 
initial recognition through information developed internally or 
external resources while the counterparty is with continuous 
business transactions with the Group

Lifetime ECL –  
not credit-impaired

“High risk – 2”: There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL –  
credit-impaired

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on the external credit rating, the Group’s observed default 
rates and supportable forward-looking information that is available to the directors of the Company 
without undue cost or effort.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of accounts receivables for the year ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-

impaired)
Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2020 248 – 248
Transfer to credit-impaired (5) 5 –
Impairment loss recognised 326 93 419
Impairment loss reversed (243) – (243)   

Balance at 31 December 2020 326 98 424
Impairment loss recognised 653 – 653
Impairment loss reversed (326) – (326)
Write off – (98) (98)   

Balance at 31 December 2021 653 – 653
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16.	 ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND RENTAL DEPOSIT  
– continued

Impairment assessment on accounts receivables subject to ECL model – continued

During the year ended 31 December 2021, approximately HK$327,000 (2020: HK$176,000) net 
impairment loss allowance related to accounts receivables and approximately HK$326,000 (2020: 
HK$243,000) reversal of impairment loss allowance related to accounts receivables that are not credit-
impaired was recognised in profit or loss, respectively.

17.	 EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FVTOCI

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity investment (Note) 1,556 –
   

Note:	 The unlisted equity investment represented the Group’s investment in a private company established in 
British Virgin Islands, which is a venture capital Company.

The above unlisted investment is not held for trading. Instead, they are held for long-term strategic 
purposes. The directors of the Company have elected to designate the investment in equity instrument 
at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in the investment fair value in profit or 
loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding the investment for long-term purposes 
and realising their performance potential in the long run.

18.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong listed equity securities held for trading (Note) 1,608 –
   

Note:	 The fair values of listed securities are based on the bid prices quoted in active markets in Hong Kong.
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19.	 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT, BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND BANK 
OVERDRAFT

Bank balances and pledged bank deposit 

Bank balances carried interest at prevailing market interest rates based on daily bank deposits rates for 
the year.

Pledged bank deposit carry fixed interest rate of 0.28% and represent deposit pledged to banks to 
secure banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposit amounting to HK$1,200,000 (2020: nil) have 
been pledged to secure bank overdraft and are therefore classified as current assets. 

For the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group performed impairment assessment 
on bank balances and pledged bank deposit and concluded that the probability of defaults of the 
counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for ECL is provided.

Bank overdraft

Bank overdraft carried interest at market rate at 4.25% (2020: nil), was secured by pledged bank deposit 
and personal guaranteed by the directors of the Group.

20.	 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT LIABILITY

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables 1,235 606
Accrued expenses 1,063 1,175
Accrued payroll expenses 7,450 4,571  

9,748 6,352
   

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contract liability
Public relation service – 1,100

   

For public relation service, the performance obligations have been satisfied and recognised as revenue 
during the year ended 31 December 2021, according to the contract period.
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21.	 LEASE LIABILITY

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease liability payable:
Within one year 1,971 1,596
Within a period of more than one year but not more  

than two years 2,121 –
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding 

five years 1,603 –  

5,695 1,596
Less: Amount due from settlement with 12 months 

shown under current liabilities (1,971) (1,596)  

Amount due from settlement after 12 months 
shown under non-current liability 3,724 –

   

The Company does not expose to a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liability. Lease liability 
is monitored by the Company’s treasury function. The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing 
rate is 4.06% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 5%).

22.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

The following are the major deferred tax liability recognised and movements thereon during the current 
and prior years:

Accelerated 
tax depreciation

HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 –
Charge to profit or loss 120 

At 31 December 2020 120
Charge to profit or loss 185 

At 31 December 2021 305
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22.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY – continued

At 31 December 2021, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$3,331,000 (2020: 
HK$6,643,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in 
respect of the HK$3,835,000 (2020: HK$7,009,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately HK$141,000 that can be carried 
forward for one to five years for the year ended 31 December 2020. Other unrecognised tax losses may 
be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned 
by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. 

At 31 December 2021, deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial 
statements in respect of the temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC 
subsidiary amounting to RMB75,000 (equivalent to HK$92,000) as the Group is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

23.	 PROVISION FOR REINSTATEMENT COST

The provision for reinstatement cost represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s liabilities 
of the costs of dismantling and removing the leasehold improvements and restoring the office on which 
leased office is located.

The movement is in the provision for reinstatement cost is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2021 – –
Additional provision 225 –  

As at 31 December 2021 225 –
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

24.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
shares

Share 
capital

HK$

Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and  

31 December 2021 4,000,000,000 40,000,000
  

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and  

31 December 2021 800,000,000 8,000,000
   

25.	 PLEDGE OF ASSET

At the end of the reporting period, the following asset of the Group have been pledged to bank to 
secure general bank facilities granted to the Group:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Pledged bank deposit 1,200 –
   

26.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes cash and cash equivalents, and 
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves.

The management of the Group review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, 
the management of the Group considers the cost and the risks associates with each class of capital. 
Based on recommendations of the management of the Group, the Group will balance its overall capital 
structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the 
redemption of existing debt.
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27.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents) 62,930 42,456
Equity instrument at FVTOCI 1,556 –
Financial assets at FVTPL 1,608 –  

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 966 606
Bank overdraft 5,965 –
Lease liability 5,695 1,596

   

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include rental deposit, equity instrument at FVTOCI, accounts and 
other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, pledged bank deposit, bank balances and cash, other 
payables, bank overdraft and lease liability. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in 
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to 
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to 
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of change in market interest rate.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk which arise from lease liability (see note 21). The 
Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances, variable rate 
bank overdraft and unlisted investment (see note 19 and 17, respectively) due to the fluctuation of the 
prevailing market interest rate. The Group currently does not have a policy on hedging interest rate risk. 
However, the management of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging 
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.
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27.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Market risk – continued

Sensitivity analysis

No sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk on bank deposit is presented as the directors of the Company 
consider the sensitivity on interest rate risk on bank deposit is insignificant.

Equity price risk

The Group is mainly exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed equity securities and 
unlisted equity investment. The Group has a team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the 
risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end 
of the reporting period.

If the price of the listed equity securities at FVTPL had been 10% (2020: nil) higher/lower, the Group’s 
profit before taxation would increase/decrease by HK$134,000 (2020: nil).

If the price of the unlisted equity investment at FVOCI had been 10% (2020: nil) higher/lower, the 
investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by HK$130,000 (2020: nil).
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27.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Credit risk

Overview of the Group’s exposure to credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group. At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the 
counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its accounts receivables. In order to minimise the credit 
risk, the Group has applied the general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime 
ECL. The Group determines the ECL on these items as disclosed in note 16.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has concentration of credit risk as 17% (2020: 22%) of the total 
accounts receivables was due from the Group’s largest debtor. The Group’s concentration of credit risk 
on the top five largest debtors accounted for 45% (2020: 56%) of the total accounts receivables as at 31 
December 2021. The management of the Group considered the credit risk of amounts due from these 
customers is insignificant after considering their historical settlement record, credit quality and financial 
position.

The Group considered the credit risk on the rental deposit and other receivables at the end of the 
reporting period using the past due information and concluded that there has been no significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. No loss allowance is made for other receivables and rental 
deposit as the amount of ECL with respect to these balances is considered insignificant.

The credit risk on pledged bank deposit and bank balances is limited because the counterparties are 
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than the concentration of credit risk on pledged bank deposit and bank balances which are 
deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the Group does not have any other significant 
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties.
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27.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the management, which has built an 
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium 
and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by 
maintaining adequate reserves and borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual 
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial liabilities.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating 
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the year.

Liquidity tables

Weighted
average

interest rate

On demand
or less than

3 months

Over
3 months

but not more
than 1 year

Over
1 year

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Carry

amount
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2021
Lease liability 4.06 541 1,622 3,858 6,021 5,695
Other payables – 966 – – 966 966
Bank overdraft 4.25 5,965 – – 5,965 5,965     

7,472 1,622 3,858 12,952 12,626
       

Weighted
average

interest rate

On demand
or less than

3 months

Over
3 months

but not more
than 1 year

Over
1 year

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Carry

amount
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2020
Lease liability 5.00 610 1,017 – 1,627 1,596
Other payables – 606 – – 606 606     

1,216 1,017 – 2,233 2,202
       

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities 
are subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates 
determined at the end of each year.
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27.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. For the 
instrument with significant unobservable inputs under Level 3, the Group engages third party qualified 
valuers to perform the valuation.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The 
following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in 
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Financial 
assets

Fair value as at Fair value 
hierarchy

Basis of fair value 
measurement/
valuation technique(s) 
and key input(s)

Significant 
unobservable 
input(s)2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

1. Listed equity securities 
classified as equity 
instruments at FVTPL

1,608 – Level 1 The fair value of the equity securities 
is estimated by the price quotation 
available on the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange.

N/A

2. Unlisted equity investment  
classified as equity 
instrument at FVTOCI

1,556 – Level 3 Market comparison approach. Use of 
the most reasonable and available 
multiples

Price to sales ratio of comparable 
multiple in range of 2.65 times to 
3.15 times and risk adjustments 
for lack of marketability. (Note)       

Note:	 The higher the multiples, the higher the fair value of unlisted equity securities. The higher the risk adjustments, 
the lower the fair value of unlisted equity securities. A reasonably possible change in the unobservable input 
would result in a significant higher or lower fair value measurement.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3 for value 
measurements for the year end 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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27.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

Fair value measurement of financial instruments – continued

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of financial asset

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity investment classified as equity instrument  
at FVTOCI

At 1 January – –
Additions 1,556 –  

At 31 December 1,556 –
   

Except for the financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the directors of the 
Company consider that the carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

28.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(i)	 The Group had entered into the following related party transactions:

Name of related party Relationship Nature of transaction 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Supreme-Pacific 
Confectionery Limited

Related company1 Marketing expenses 256 53
Staff welfare 16 –
Office supply – 37
Income from provision of 

recruitment service
– 16

     

1	 Mr. Kevin Chan is a shareholder/director/member of the key management personnel of this 
company.

In both years, the Group entered into transactions with the related party.
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28.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS – continued

(ii)	 Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other member of key management during the year was as 
follows:

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term benefits 8,248 7,927
Post-employments benefits 78 98  

8,326 8,025
   

Further details of the directors’ emoluments are included in note 11.

29.	 RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets 
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of an 
independent trustee. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the 
required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution 
payable in the future years.

Eligible employees of the Group are covered by a government-mandated defined contribution plan 
pursuant to which a fixed amount of retirement benefit would be determined and paid by the Macau 
Government. Contributions are generally made by both employees and employers by paying a 
fixed amount on a monthly basis to the Social Security Fund Contribution managed by the Macau 
Government. The Group funds the entire contribution and has no further commitments beyond its 
monthly contributions.

The subsidiary in the PRC is required to make contributions to the state-managed retirement scheme 
in the PRC based on a specific percentage of the payroll costs of its current employees to fund the 
benefits. The employees are entitled to retirement pension calculated with reference to their basic 
salaries on retirement and their length of service in accordance with the relevant government regulations. 
The PRC government is responsible for the pension liability to these retired staff.

The total cost of HK$3,181,000 (2020: HK$1,971,000) charged to profit or loss represents contributions 
paid or payable to the above schemes by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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30.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the then shareholders passed on 13 September 2018, a share 
option scheme was adopted for the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to selected 
participants. The share option scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing 
on 13 September 2018.

Under the scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant options to directors, employees, 
suppliers, clients, consultants, agents, advisers, franchisees, joint venture partners and related entities to 
the Company and its subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds equity interest at the discretion 
of the board of directors pursuant to the terms of the scheme, to subscribe for shares of the Company 
at a price which shall not be less than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated 
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the 
date of grant of the option (which must be a business day); (ii) the closing price of the shares as stated 
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must be a 
business day); and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options shall be granted under the scheme and any 
other share option schemes of the Company is 10% of the total number of shares in issue at the date 
of approval of adoption of the scheme. No director, employee or eligible participant may be granted 
options under the scheme which will enable him or her if exercise in full to subscribe for more than 1% 
of the issued share capital of the Company in any 12-month period. The option period for which the 
options granted can be exercisable, shall be such period as notified by the Board, save that it shall not 
be more than 10 years from the date of grant subject to the terms of the scheme. Nominal consideration 
of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of each grant and the share options granted shall be accepted within 
28 days from the date of grant.

No share option was granted or remained outstanding under the scheme during the years ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020.
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31.	 PARTICULARS OF THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the Company at the end of the reporting period 
are set out below.

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment  
and operation

Issued and fully 
paid share capital/
registered capital

Shareholding/equity 
interest attributable  

to the Company Principal activities
2021 2020

Directly held:

KOS International (BVI) 
Limited

BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

KOS Macau (BVI) Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

KOS Investment Limited# BVI US$10,000 100% N/A Investment holding

Indirectly held:

KOS International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 
HK$10,000

100% 100% Provision of recruitment 
and secondment and 
payroll services

KOS International Limited Macau Ordinary shares 
MOP30,000

100% 100% Provision of secondment 
and payroll services

KOS Staffing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 
HK$10,000

100% 100% Provision of recruitment 
and secondment and 
payroll services

KOS Business Consulting 
(Shenzhen) Limited* 
高奧士人力資源服務 
（深圳）有限公司

PRC Registered capital 
US$300,000 
(2020: 
US$165,000)

100% 100% Provision of recruitment 
services

KOS Solutions Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 
HK$10,000

100% 100% Provision of secondment 
and payroll services

*	 The English name of the wholly foreign owned enterprise registered in the PRC is for identification purpose 
only.

#	 The Company is newly incorporated during the year.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.
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32.	 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITY ARISING FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITY

The table below details changes in the Group’s liability arising from financing activity, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liability arising from financing activity is that for which cash flows was, or future 
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows from financing activity.

Lease 
liability

HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 3,893
Financing cash flows (2,440)
Interest expense 143 

At 31 December 2020 1,596
New lease entered 6,335
Financing cash flows (2,347)
Interest expense 111 

At 31 December 2021 5,695
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33.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 
COMPANY

 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries 78 –  

Current assets
Other receivables and prepayments 353 323
Amounts due from subsidiaries 34,748 33,372
Bank balances 1,956 3,466  

37,057 37,161  

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 68 299
Amounts due to subsidiaries 139 61  

207 360  

Net current assets 36,850 36,801  

Total assets less current liabilities 36,928 36,801
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 8,000 8,000
Reserves 28,928 28,801  

Total equity 36,928 36,801
   



133

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

KOS INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED   Annual Report 2021

For the year ended 31 December 2021

33.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 
COMPANY – continued

Movement of the reserves

Share 
premium

Other 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 39,738 26,601 (37,191) 29,148
Loss and total comprehensive 

expense for the year – – (347) (347)    

At 31 December 2020 39,738 26,601 (37,538) 28,801
Profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year – – 127 127    

At 31 December 2021 39,738 26,601 (37,411) 28,928
     

Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the aggregate net assets of the 
subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in June 2018 and the nominal 
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.
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Year ended 31 December
RESULTS 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 108,948 65,285 80,872 66,291 65,426
     

Profit (loss) before taxation 14,836 (1,157) 2,120 (3,328) 20,009
Income tax expense (2,032) (460) (371) (1,576) (3,864)     

Profit (loss) for the year 12,804 (1,617) 1,749 (4,904) 16,145
      

At 31 December
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 75,999 48,483 51,159 53,316 39,382
Total liabilities (23,732) (9,168) (10,392) (13,917) (15,444)     

52,267 39,315 40,767 39,399 23,938     

Equity attributable to owners  
of the Company 52,267 39,315 40,767 39,399 23,938

      

The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and of the 
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2017 has been extracted from the 
prospectus issued on 28 September 2018 in connection with the Listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock 
Exchange on 12 October 2018.
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